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MAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITY HIGHLIGHTS IN 2013 

• In Portugal, and in spite of a continuing adverse macroeconomic environment, the automotive 
market recovered slightly in relation to the previous year. In spite of this recovery, the automotive 
market volumes still remain at the volume recorded in the 80's. 

• SIVA kept its leadership position in the passenger car segment for the seventh consecutive year, 
and also led the more extended light vehicle market (passenger cars and light commercial vehicles). 

• In this context, SAG Gest’s Consolidated Turnover in 2013 decreased only marginally (1.1%) when 
compared with 2012, with major profitability indicators (EBITDA and EBIT) recording, respectively, 
positive 22.7% and 36.2% increases over the previous year’s amounts. 

• However, the year’s impact of financial and tax expenses did not allow for SAG Gest to return to 
positive results. 

• SAG Gest concluded a capitalization transaction for the amount of Eur 55 million by means of 
supplementary capital payments performed by the Principal SA Shareholder, a company which is 
wholly owned by SAG Gest’s controlling Shareholder. Funds required for the completion of this 
transaction were borrowed by Principal SA from major Portuguese financial institutions. SAG Gest 
applied all of the funds received in the partial reimbursement of bank debt owed to the same 
financial institutions. 

• In the context of this transaction, the maturities of a substantial part of the Group’s debt were 
extended until 2015, while it was possible to lower the applicable interest rate, which already had 
some impact on the 2013 results. 

• The Unidas Affiliate consolidated, in 2013, its sustained growth trajectory in all its business 
segments, recording a 30% turnover increase, and more than tripling its 2012 net profit. During the 
first Half 2013, the Company initiated the process for the issuance of an Initial Public Offering of 
Shares (IPO) and subsequent listing of its shares in the Brazilian capital market. The operation was 
subsequently suspended due to the deterioration of Brazilian market conditions which, due to 
external reasons, negatively affected the Company’s valuation. It was resolved to resume this 
process when market conditions return to normal and effectively value Unidas’s development and 
value creation potential. 

• SAG Gest’s stake in Unidas became recognized, as of 1 July 2013, as an asset held for sale, 
reflecting the decision to realize the relevant value via a sale transaction.  
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I. MACRO-ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT 

A. INTERNATIONAL CONTEXT 
According to the IMF’s latest estimates, the world economy is expected to have grown around 3%, 
practically the same as in the previous year. There were diverging paces of growth between the so-
called developed economies (1,3%) and the emerging economies (4.7%), with both recording a slight 
slowdown when compared to 2012. 
Euro area GDP decreased 0.4% (-0.7% in 2012), mainly due to a negative evolution in Italy (-1.8%), 
Spain (-1.2%), Greece (-4%) and the Netherlands (-1%). Outside this area, Japan’s and the United 
Kingdom’s growth rate increased, by 0.3 and 1.4 percentage points (p.p.), respectively. 
Among the emerging countries, Central and Eastern Europe’s GDP increased their growth rate by 1.1 
p.p., India by 1.1 p.p. and Brazil by 1.3 p.p., while China remained at 7.7% as in 2012. Russia had a 
significant slowdown, from 3.4% to 1.5%. 

Table 1.1 – International Background – Main Indicators 

 
Sources: FMI, WEO update, Jan. 2014 and Bank of Portugal, Econ. Bulletin, Dec. 2014   * 3 month Euribor rate 

The main macroeconomic indicators released during the second half of the year show signs of recovery 
in the Euro area. Although some risks remain, there is an increasing consensus that the trend has been 
reversed, and Euro area GDP is expected to grow again in 2014. 
In this context, external demand for Portuguese goods improved clearly in 2013. 

Unemployment increased in the Euro area which, at the end of November 2013, stood at 12.1% (11.7% 
in 2012), and inflation decelerated, with average inflation standing at around 1.4% (2.5% in 2012) and 
the annual rate at 0.9% (2.2% in the previous year). 

In 2013, the euro appreciated versus the US dollar, and interest rates maintained their downward trend. 
The ECB lowered its refinancing rate to an all-time low of 0.25% in November. This rate stood at 0.50% 
since May 2013 and, previously, at 0.75% since July 2012. 
 
  

2012 2013 (E)
World GDP (% change) 3.1 3.0
Euro zone (% change) -0.7 -0.4
External demand for Portugal (% change) -0.2 1.2
Oil Price (brent, USD/barrel) 111.9 108.2
USD/EUR exchange rate (annual average) 1.28 1.33
Short term interest rate (annual average, %)* 0.6 0.2
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B. PORTUGUESE ECONOMY 
The Portuguese economy decreases 1.5% in 2013. 

The internal demand components maintained their downward path, both in consumption (public and 
private) and in investment. The performance of exports and imports created surpluses in the goods and 
services accounts and in the current account, for the first time in several decades.  

Table 1.2 – Portugal – Main Macroeconomic Indicators 

 
Sources: European Commission; Bank of Portugal; Portuguese Institute of Statistics (INE); January 2014  * there 
will be a strong downward revision 
The evolution of private consumption and of disposable income stabilized the savings rate at slightly 
below 12%, after a significant increase in 2012.  
The two components of consumption (private and public), as well as investment, decreased less than in 
the previous year. 

The unemployment rate, albeit evolving positively from the second half onwards, remains high, and was 
above the figure at the end of 2012. 

High unemployment, combined with the fiscal framework and continued credit tightening contributed to 
a decrease in domestic demand. 

A dynamic export sector has in the last years achieved significant market share gains, partly linked to 
diversification of its markets. In 2013, the Portuguese export market share was higher than it was at the 
beginning of the monetary union. 
The public deficit is set to be below the agreed level under the EFAP, as a result of the structural 
readjustment process negotiated in 2011. 

 
  

2012 2013 (E)
GDP (% change) -3.2 -1.5
   Private consumption (% change) -5.6 -2.0
   Public consumption (% change) -4.4 -1.5
   Investment (GFCF) (% change) -14.5 -8.4
   Exports (% change) 3.2 5.9
   Imports (% change) -6.7 2.7
Inflation (CPI) – average (% change) 2.8 0.5
Unemployment rate (% act. popul.) 15.9 17.4
Public deficit (% GDP) -6.4 -5,9*
Public debt (% GDP) 124.1 127.8
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Source: ACEA 

B. PORTUGAL 
Following two years of strong volume decreases, the PC and LCV markets returned to growth in 2013, 
although still at very low levels. The volume of Light Vehicles (LV), combining both those markets, was 
124,123 units, an 11.5% increase when compared to 2012. 
The passenger car market grew 11.5%, to 105,921 units, but nevertheless remained at the volume of 
1986. The volume of light commercial vehicles increased 13.7%, to 18,202 units, the level seen in 1985. 

The LCV ABC market + Pickups (which excludes Passenger Derivatives) also increased 15.1%, to 
14,783 units. 

Chart 2.2 – Sales Volume – Light Vehicle Market (units) 

 

 

Source: ACAP 
In the PC market, which grew after the brutal depression started in 2011, the following were the most 
significant factors affecting performance in 2013: 

• New increased share of purchases by the corporate segment, including Fleet Management and 
Rent-a-Car Companies 

• Commercial aggressiveness, particularly in the ‘premium’ segment 

• “Premium” brands extended their offer to the compact segment 

• Increased aging of vehicles in circulation, as a result of the low sales levels in recent years and 
to the import of usually older used cars; 

• Increased volumes of alternative energy based cars 
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III. BUSINESSES REPORT 

A. PORTUGAL 

1. Automotive Distribution - SIVA 
The Brands distributed by SIVA recorded a volume of 19,673 units, representing a 1.9% increase over 
2012. 

The combined volume of the Brands represented by SIVA continue to lead, both the light vehicle market 
– for the 3rd consecutive year -, and the passenger car markets, this for the 7th consecutive year. 

In the passenger car market, the share was 16.9% and 15.9% in the light vehicle market: 

Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles recorded a 9.9% share in the light commercial vehicle market. 

Chart 3.1 – SIVA Total Sales, 2012-2013  
(units) 

 
Source: ACAP 

 
Volkswagen - Light Passenger Vehicles 

Volkswagen ended 2013 with a 9.6% market share in the passenger car market, having increased sales 
volume over the previous year. 

In a context where the passenger car market remained at historically low levels, Volkswagen ended the 
year ranking 2nd, with a volume of 10,131 units, representing a 3% increase over the previous year. 

Golf was well accepted in the market and won the National, European and World Car of the Year 
awards, increasing its share from 9.4% to 11.9% in the segment. 

The new Golf Variant, with a marked sports character, replicated this success, namely in Fleets. 

The Polo maintained its performance and secured a position at the top of its segment, thanks to the 
special Street series, with a 13.9% share. 
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Luxury Brands - Bentley and Lamborghini   
In a particularly difficult year for the business of the Bentley and Lamborghini Brands, naturally reflecting 
the country’s economic situation, 3 Bentleys and 1 Lamborghinis were sold, as was the case in 2012. 

Spare Parts and Accessories 
The Sales value of Spare Parts and Accessories was Eur 68.4 million, representing a 4.0% increase 
over 2012. 

In spite of the difficult economic environment, together with a decrease in the number of vehicles in 
circulation which, in 2013, is estimated at 6.4% in the number of vehicles in Segment I (up to 4 years), 
and 4.7% in Segments I and II (up to 8 years) with, respectively, 87,300 and 164.700 vehicles, sales 
benefited from the implementation of several actions, namely at the workshop level, which significantly 
contributed to the actual increase. 

The Level of Service (an indicator measuring the level of Spare Parts and Accessories supplied by SIVA 
to its Authorized Repair Shop Network) remained above 95%, with an significant impact on the 
Customer Satisfaction level. 

During 2013, several actions were implemented whose results contributed to the performance achieved, 
namely: 

• the strengthening of the new “Economy” Parts line 

• the domestic campaigns and local marketing activities 

• the significant reinforcement of promotion and advertising of the Accessories line 

• the price repositioning of the more competitive spares 

• the improvements introduced on stock management 

• the increased number of Authorized Repair shops benefiting from same-day spare part ordering 
and delivery 

• the careful monitoring of procedures involving orders for broken down vehicles 

• the training activities provided to SIVA and Authorized Repair Shops Employees. 

After Sales Service 
The After Sales Service, measured in terms of hours sold in the Authorized Repair Shop Network, 
decreased 3% when compared to 2012. 

This resulted essentially from the age and the decrease in the number of vehicles in circulation, bearing 
in mind the continued increase in the quality of the Brands represented by SIVA, in spite of an increase 
in Client loyalty. 

Strong focus continued to be put on the quality of post-sale service and processes, and this provided a 
consistent and significant improvement in Customer satisfaction indexes, as well as more efficiency in 
the Authorized Repair Shop Network. 

Customers and Innovation 
As part of a strategy to increase the Brand’s presence in the digital, social and mobile media, projects 
were developed and actions were launched to support the Brands’ marketing strategies and Customer 
Relationship Management.  
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This strategy seeks to respond to new market trends which point to an increased usage by Clients of 
digital media and mobile supports as new communication, research and product and service acquisition 
mechanisms. 

The mobile applications launched in 2013 by the Brands represented by SIVA are part of this strategy, 
as they not only enable better interaction with the Customer via the new communications channel, but 
also sustain the state-of-the-art image associated with the Brands.  
New sites were launched simultaneously for the Brands represented by SIVA: the sites are now more 
interactive and technologically more advanced so as to respond to the new Customer requirements, and 
Brand presence has been increased in the social media. 

This digital strategy complements and brings new dynamics to the work that has been developed in 
recent years with the Brand loyalty programs, creating new channels to facilitate Brand presence among 
Customers and opening new prospects for the development of sustainable electronic trade channels. 

2. Automotive Retail – New Cars - SOAUTO 
The increased volume, together with the process which was implemented in recent years to rationalize 
the staff and facility structures, enabled the achievement of the expected results and to face the future 
with optimism, while maintaining and increasing business profitability on sustainable bases. 

During 2013, several activities aimed at the end Customer were continued, from initiatives of direct 
contact with Customers, such as the "Client Day", to the implementation of various actions using digital 
marketing tools. 

Soauto Dealerships sold, in 2013, 2,617 new vehicles (9% more than in 2012), and 1,430 used cars 
(7% more than in the previous year). The volume of hours sold in the workshops was 189,024 in 2013, 
a 4% decrease when compared to the previous year.  
Soauto Dealerships are present in the Greater Lisbon area (with Expocar Expo and Expocar Cascais 
facilities, Soauto Carnaxide, Soauto Laranjeiras and Soauto Barreiro, all held by the Soauto S.A. 
Subsidiary, and Expocar Loures, operated by the Loures Automóveis Subsidiary) and in the Greater 
Oporto area (with Soauto Rolporto, operated by the Rolporto Subsidiary, and Expocar Porto, held by the 
Rolvia Subsidiary). 

3. Other  
During 2013 and following the decreased activity of the Manheim Portugal Affiliate, and the subsequent 
need to increase that company’s capital, SAG Gest agreed with Manheim Europe to decrease its 
holding to 10%, with Manheim Europe providing the required funding of said Affiliate. However SAG 
Gest retained some interest in Manheim Portugal's activity and its relationship with this world leading 
car remarketing Corporation. 

B. AFFILIATE IN BRAZIL – UNIDAS 
Business conducted by Unidas in Brazil evolved positively, with solid growth in the company’s core 
segments, rent-a-car and renting, with turnover increasing 30.3% in Brazilian Reals. Results also 
recorded significant increases which, at the EBIT and EBT levels, were 51% above 2012. 
The continued strengthening of Unidas’s business profile, and the consistent progression of the 
operational cash generation and of the margins seen since 2011, clearly point to the end of a 
turnaround cycle and the start on a new cycle, which will correspond to the evolution of a mature, 
capitalized and profitable company.  
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Chart 3.8 - Rent-a-Car and Franchises – No. of Daily Rentals  
(‘000s of rental days)  

 
Source: Unidas 

3. Semi-New 
To secure a larger share of the sale of de-fleet cars to the end Customer, Unidas added its the 
expansion of its semi-new car shop network to the growing renting and rent-a-car fleets. In 2013, this 
business area sold a total of 13,754 vehicles, of which 10,139 (73.7%) directly to the end Customer, and 
3,615 (26.3%) to used car dealers, a 10.0% increase when compared the total number of vehicles sold 
in 2012 (12,508 cars). 

Chart 3.9 – Sales of Semi-new Cars  
(number of units) 

 
Source: Unidas 

Table 3.1 – Unidas Main Financial Indicators 

 

The comparative analysis between the two financial years should be based on the Adjusted Net Result, 
which excludes non-recurring effects of the additional depreciation resulting from the decrease in the IPI 
car tax and the recognition, in 2012, of Deferred Tax Assets in respect of deductible tax losses 
generated in previous years. 

1,571 1,682

2,416

730
861

894

2011 2012 2013

No. Daily Rentals (Own Network) No. Daily Rentals (Franchised Network)

2,301
2,543

3,310

9.275 8.067
10.139

3.467 4.441
3.615

2011 2012 2013

Private Consumers Dealers

12,742 12,508
13,754

BRL ('MM) 2013 2012 % Change
Turnover 827.0 671.3 23.2%
EBITDA 285.0 205.1 38.9%
EBIT 116.2 53.1 118.8%
EBT 47.2 7.5 529.3%
Net Profit (Reported) 61.2 78.6 ‐22.1%
Net Profit (Adjusted) 43.8 32.5 34.8%
Non Current Assets (Car Fleet) 1,053.0 862.5 22.1%
Total Equity 675.9 613.4 10.2%
Net Debt 631.8 345.0 83.1%
Net Debt / EBITDA Multiple 2.2 1.7 31.8%

UNIDAS
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which donated several books, Ratiopharm, Lda., which donated toiletries and Condi-Alimentar, S.A., 
which donated several food products.  
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This reduction occurred in variable expenses (-5.2%, or Eur 0.4 million), but mostly in overhead 
expenses (-11.3%, or Eur 4.0 million), reflecting the result of continued implementation of cost reduction 
and efficiency improvement measures. 

EBITDA was Eur 11.9 million, representing a 22.7% increase when compared with 2012. 

Consolidated EBIT in 2013 was 9.1 million, a 36.2% increase over 2012.  

Chart 5.2 – Detailed Consolidated Income Statement  (EBIT) 

 
 

Net Financial Income / (Expenses) 

The Consolidated Financial Result represented a net expense of 17.9 million in 2013.  
The negative Financial Result (excluding Income from Affiliates and costs relating to reduction of the 
holding in Manheim) decreased 9.2% when compared to the previous year. The reduction in the SAG 
Group net financial expenses is the result of (i) the reduction in bank debt due to the capital increase 
transaction performed in August 2013; (ii) the reduction of the effective interest rate, following a 
renegotiation of the all-in interest rate in August 2013, which applied to a substantial part of the SAG 
Group bank debt, and (iii) increase of the average bank debt maturity, from two to five years, and the 
consequent reduction of the all-in effective interest rate. 
Interest and Financial Expenses in 2013 were Eur 17.9 million, which include Eur 5.6 million 
representing the cost of bank guarantees issued for the benefit of Volkswagen AG. This amount 
includes (as in 2012) approximately Eur 2.5 million related to the downgrading of the Portuguese 
financial institutions’ rating. This has required the provision of additional guarantees issued by financial 
institutions complying with the rating requirements established by Volkswagen AG. 
Income from Affiliates reflects the result of the non-recurrent impact of the sale of 30% of the Manheim 
Affiliate's capital, as well as of the recognition of impairments in the amount of the stake retained, which 
resulted in a total loss of approximately Eur 2.1 million. The appropriation of Unidas’ result in 2013 was 
only recognized during the 1st Half of the year, while in 2012 the amount recorded related to the full 
year. 
 

EUR ('000) 2013 2012 % Change
Effective Margin 51,176  53,424  ‐4.2%
% Effective Margin 12.6% 13.0% ‐0.4%

SG&A ‐ Commercial Expenses (5,964) (7,117) ‐16.2%
SG&A ‐ Vehicle Expenses (1,731) (1,003) 72.5%
   Sub Total Variable Expenses (7,694) (8,121) ‐5.2%

SG&A ‐ Non Variable Expenses (11,368) (13,009) ‐12.6%
Payroll Expenses (20,226) (22,606) ‐10.5%
   Sub Total Overheads (31,594) (35,615) ‐11.3%

   Operating Expenses (39,288) (43,735) ‐10.2%

EBITDA 11,888  9,689  22.7%
% EBITDA 2.9% 2.4% 0.6%

Depreciation and Amortization (59) (2,762) ‐97.9%
Gains/(Losses) on Assets Sold (546) (9) 6114.5%
Provisions (2,193) (242) 804.5%

EBIT 9,090 6,675 36.2%
% EBIT 2.2% 1.6% 0.6%
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Although EBIT and EBT performed favorably in 2013 when compared ro 2012, Consolidated Net Result 
declined, with the loss increasing from Eur 10.6 million to Eur 15.6 million. 

This decline is the result of increased income tax expenses, which include the impact of:  

• The limitation imposed on the tax deductibility of interest and financial expenses, which 
originated a positive taxable income (and, consequently, current income tax payable), in spite of 
the financial year closing with a loss; 

• The decrease of the income tax statutory rate from 25% to 23%, which required a re-evaluation 
of the Deferred Tax balances, which had to be re-calculated using the new income tax rate;  

• The write-off of Deferred Tax Assets related to tax losses carried forward which expired and 
were not fully used.     

Table 5.4 – Detailed Consolidated Net Income / (Expenses) 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

EUR ('000) 2013 2012 % Change
EBIT 9,090 6,675 36.2%
% EBIT 2.2% 1.6% 0.6%

   Income from Subsidiaries And Associates 29 2,008 ‐98.5%
   Net Interest (11,370) (12,746) ‐10.8%
   Other Finantial Expenses (6,519) (6,962) ‐6.4%
Financial Income (17,859) (17,699) ‐0.9%

EBT (8,769) (11,024) 20.5%
% EBT ‐2.2% ‐2.7% 0.5%

  Current Income Tax (3,758) 5,710 165.8%
  Deferred Income Tax For The Year (1,399) (4,097) 65.8%
  Deferred Income Tax Write Off (1,593) ‐

Net Profit From Ordinary Activities (15,518) (9,410) ‐64.9%
% EBT ‐3.8% ‐2.3% ‐1.5%

   Net Profit From Discontinued Operations ‐ (370) 100.0%
   Capital Loss ‐ CRE ‐ (748) 100.0%

Consolidated Net Profit (15,518) (10,528) ‐47.4%
% Net Profit ‐3.8% ‐2.6% ‐1.3%

  Non‐Controlling Interests (59) (61) ‐2.6%

Net Profit attributable to SAG Gest (15,578) (10,589) ‐47.1%
% Net Profit ‐3.8% ‐2.6% ‐1.3%
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Net Equity 

SAG Gest’s Consolidated Equity at the end of 2013 was Eur 27.9 million. The increase of Eur 22.3 
million in relation to the amount as at 31 December 2013 (Eur 5.5 million) results from the combination 
of the positive effect of the Eur 55 million capitalization transaction concluded in August 2013, with the 
negative impact of the exchange rate variation of the Brazilian Real against the Euro during the first six 
months of 2013 (Eur 17.3 million), as well as with the losses recognized during 2013 (Eur 15.6 million). 

Financial Ratios 

The evolution of the major financial ratios was as follows: 

Table 5.6 – Financial Ratios 

 
 

 The following amounts were considered in the calculation of the above ratios: 

Table 5.7 – Bases for the Calculation of Financial Ratios  

 
 

 
The following concepts were considered in the calculation of the above shown items: 

• EBITDA = Turnover – Cost of Sales – Operating Costs + Other Operating Income – Other 
Operating Costs     

2013 2012

Net Profit attributable to SAG Gest / Average Assets (2.97) (1.92)
Net Profit attributable to SAG Gest / Average Ajusted Equity (5.25) (3.86)
Net Debt / Average Ajusted Equity 88.98 120.14
MLT Financial Debt  / Total Financial Debt   70.23 11.16
EBITDA / Net Interest 1.05 0.76
Ajusted Equity / Average Assets 0.57 0.50
Net Debt / EBITDA 22.23 34.05

EUR ('000) 2013 2012

EBITDA 11,888 9,689
Net Interest (11,370) (12,746)
Net Profit attributable to SAG Gest (15,578) (10,589)

Equity 27,884 5,548
Equity Adjustment 269,069 269,069
Adjusted Equity  296,954 274,617

Total Liabilities 496,369 546,549

Short Term Finantial Debt 82,813 307,147
Medium Long Term Finantial Debt 195,336 38,566
Total Finantial Debt 278,149 345,714
Cash and Near Cash (13,931) (15,795)
Net Debt 264,219 329,919

Total Assets 524,253 552,097
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Risk Management 

SAG Gest’s Risk Management Policy, which is described in greater detail in the Corporate Governance 
Report, aims to ensure an accurate identification of risks involved in the businesses conducted by its 
Subsidiaries and Affiliates, as well as to adopt and implement the measures required to minimize the 
negative impacts that adverse developments of factors inherent to those risks may cause on the 
Group’s financial structure and sustainability. 

The identification of risks in Companies that are materially relevant to the SAG Group has enabled the 
identification of the main risks to which the Group is exposed:  
Strategic Risk 

The strategic plan adopted in 2008, which included the now completed sale of several non-strategic 
assets, aimed and still aims fundamentally at achieving the SAG Group’s profitability and sustainability. 
It provided for the adoption of measures which would ensure the optimization of the value of the holding 
in Unidas, in such a way that its sale would enable a reduction in Group debt and, consequently, the 
consistent and sustainable reestablishment of the SAG Group’s historical profitability levels, as well as 
the implementation of a reimbursement plan involving the balances due by the SGC - SGPS 
Shareholder. 

Implementation of the final steps of this plan is exposed to two main risks: 

1. The return of the Portuguese automotive market to levels enabling the Group’s activities in the 
Automotive Distribution and Retail areas to increase their profitability, in line with its historical trend; 
Progression of the automotive market during the 2nd Half of 2013, and the positive prospects for 
2014 seem to point in that direction. In fact, in 2014 the market is expected to be far from its 
estimated level of balance, and the return to more material results from its import and retail 
activities, which are indispensable to ensure SAG’s overall profitability, depends upon the market’s 
performance in 2014 and the following years. 

2. Completion of the sale of SAG Gest’s holding in Unidas, for an amount that is consistent with the 
investment performed by SAG Gest. The progression of the Brazilian economy and the 
performance of its capital market, especially in a year like 2014 where presidential elections will be 
held in Brazil, are the main risk factors to the success of this transaction.  

 Reliance on Suppliers 

The business of the SIVA Subsidiary is based on Distribution Agreements established with the 
Volkswagen Group for an undetermined period, subject to the relevant EU Regulations, which have 
been fully complied with and successively maintained in force for more than 25 years. However, 
maintenance of these Agreements depends on the continuation of Volkswagen Group’s distribution 
policies, as well as on the performance of the represented Brands in the Portuguese market.  
Financial Risks 

The main financial risks identified are liquidity risks, exchange rate risks, interest rate exposure risks 
and credit risk. 

The management of the liquidity risk involves the dynamic monitoring and measuring of this type of risk 
in order to ensure the fulfillment of all short and medium-term financial responsibilities (cash outflows) 
by SAG Group Companies towards entities doing business with them. 

The Portuguese economic situation, particularly in what relates to credit availability, has determined a 
substantial increase of the liquidity risks. In this context, the Group has responded with a close 
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monitoring and management of its cash flows and with a permanent communication with the major 
Portuguese Financial Institutions. 

Exchange rate risk management controls the impact that exchange rate changes may have on the 
Group’s equity and attempts to ensure accurate measurement and dynamic management of global 
exchange risk. The control policy that has been adopted aims at selecting suitable strategies for each 
business area in order to ensure that this risk factor does not negatively affect the relevant operational 
capacity. However, and in view of the potential impacts that exchange rate coverage financial 
instruments could generate, affecting the Group’s liquidity position, it was resolved that no such financial 
instruments should be acquired. 
Interest rate risk management aims to ensure the assessment and dynamic management of this risk 
through the definition and setting of exposure limits of the Group’s Statement of the Financial Position 
and of the Statement of Comprehensive Income to interest rate variations. The control policy that has 
been adopted aims at selecting suitable strategies for each business area in order to ensure that this 
risk factor does not negatively affect the relevant operational capacity. On the other hand, exposure to 
interest rate risk is further monitored through simulation of adverse scenarios having some degree of 
probability and which could negatively affect the Group's results. 
In what relates to credit risk management, the development of the Group's Client portfolio and each 
business unit's exposure are monitored on a monthly basis. The Group adopted in 2001 a Credit Risk 
Manual establishing policies, criteria and procedures to be adopted in the credit control area. The Credit 
Risk Manual is regularly updated and includes criteria to be used in determining a credit rating. 
Operational Risk 

Operational risk management is based on the assignment of functional responsibilities and formal 
definition of internal control procedures, on a business area level. 
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VI. OUTLOOK FOR 2014 

A. MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROSPECTS 

1. International Background 
In 2014, the world economy is expected to grow around 3.7%, according to IMF estimates. 

This is expected to occur in both the developed countries (2.2% in 2014, 1.3% in 2013), and the 
emerging and developing countries (5.1% growth expected in 2014, 4.7% in 2013). 

In the Euro area, the recessive cycle is expected to come to an end in 2014, with GDP growth at around 
1%, with the majority of the countries contributing positively. The US, UK, Russia and India are also 
expected to increase their GDP growth pace, while Japan and Brazil are expected to remain at the 
same levels of 2013, and China could see a slight slowdown. 

Table 6.1 – International Economy – Main Indicators in 2013 – 2015 

 
Sources: FMI, WEO update, Jan. 2014 and Bank of Portugal, Econ. Bulletin, Dec. 2014 2013   1 Short-term interests: 3 month 
Euribor rate, source: Bank of Portugal 
A new decrease in oil prices is expected, as is a slight appreciation of the Euro vs. the US Dollar, in 
parallel with a small increase in interest rates. 

2.  Portuguese Economy 
The Portuguese economy is expected to recover, with GDP growth above 1% in 2014. This more 
favorable scenario should be supported by positive contributions from exports and domestic demand, 
particularly from private investment. 

Efforts will continue in the coming years to correct the accumulated structural imbalances of the last 
decades, namely with a reallocation of resources to companies manufacturing tradable goods and 
services.  
  

2013 (E) 2014 (P) 2015 (P)
World GDP (% change) 3.0 3.7 3.9

Euro zone GDP (% change) -0.4 1.0 1.4

External demand (% change) 1.2 3.9 5.0

Oil price (brent, USD/barrel) 108.2 103.9 99.2

USD/EUR exchange rate (annual average) 1.33 1.34 1.34

Short term interest rate (annual average, %) 0.2 0.3 0.5

State financing cost (annual average, %) 2.4 3.9 5.0
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Table 6.2 – Portugal – Main Indicators in 2013 – 2015 

 
Sources: Bank of Portugal (expenditure variables and CPI); Dec.. 2013; European Commission (other), Nov. 2013 
* Recent information points to 2013 budget deficit under 5% 

All demand components, with the exception of public consumption, will contribute positively towards a 
positive progression of the economy. 

After an accumulated decrease of more than 8% during the 2011-2013 period, private consumption is 
expected to grow again, albeit conditioned by a stabilization of real disposable income.  
Investment will recover from the accumulated 20% decrease during the 2011-2013 period, which will 
enable a renewal of the capital base, after a long period of postponed investments. A slight 
improvement in financing conditions will be conditioned by the need to reduce corporate debt levels, 
which have increased, unlike family debt. 
Increased external demand will enable renewed growth (above 5%) in exports, as well as new market 
share gains, albeit smaller than in 2013. Imports are expected to accelerate, reflecting the gradual 
recovery in domestic demand. 

A new increase in the economy’s financing capacity is expected in 2013-2015, and the external account 
balance should continue to show high positive figures. 

Inflation will remain below 1%, in a context of a low domestic demand level, continued adverse labor 
market conditions and salary containment. 

Unemployment will remain at current levels, and should start to decrease in 2015. 

The public deficit is expected to progress within the parameters and thresholds agreed under the 
assistance plan with the “troika”. 

B. AUTOMOTIVE MARKET PERSPECTIVES 

1 - Portugal  
Based on the above macroeconomic scenario, in 2014 the automotive market is expected to show 
some recovery signs, although remaining at historically low levels. 

Therefore, the forecast for Light Vehicle (LV) sales is 140,000 units, with a larger contribution from the 
PC market (120,000 units or +13.3% vs. 2013), with the LCV market increasing 9.7% to 20,000 units. 

  

2013 (E) 2014 (P) 2015 (P)
GDP (% change) -1.5 0.8 1.3
Private consumption (% change) -2.0 0.3 0.7
Public consumption(% change) -1.5 -2.3 -0.5

Investiment (GFCF) (% change) -8.4 1.0 3.7

Domestic demand (% change) -2.7 0.1 0.9

Exports (% change) 5.9 5.5 5.4

Imports 2.7 3.9 4.5

Inflation (HICP) – average (% change) 0.5 0.8 1.2

Unemployment rate (% labour force) 17.4 17.7 17.3
Public Deficit (% GDP) -5,9* -4.0 -2.5

Public Debt (% GDP) 127.8 126.7 125.7



 

SAG GEST – Soluções Automóvel Globais, SGPS, S.A. – Sociedade Aberta 
C.R.C. Amadora n.º 503219886 – Capital Social: EUR 169.764.398 – Contribuinte N.º 503 219 886 

Sede: Estrada de Alfragide, n.º. 67 – 2614-519 Amadora 
37

C. GROUP ACTIVITY OUTLOOK 
In an economic environment in Portugal which, in spite of some risks, is showing a favorable outlook, 
the Group will continue to focus its activities in the areas of Automotive Retail (Import, Distribution and 
Retail of Volkswagen – Passenger Cars, Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Audi, Škoda, as well as 
Bentley and Lamborghini luxury cars) with the objective of reinforcing and consolidating its leadership 
position in the national market. 

Growth expected in the Portuguese automotive market should enable a continued improvement of 
SAG’s profitability in Portugal, but this should not yet be sufficient to cover the financial expenses, a 
situation whose rate of reversion will depend on a continued positive progression of the domestic 
market and on the completion of the sale of the holding in Unidas, with the resulting reduction of 
corporate debt. 

VII. FINAL NOTE 

In compliance with the legal and statutory provisions, the Board of Directors submits to the 
Shareholders’ approval the Annual Consolidated Report for the year 2013, in the firm belief that, to the 
best of its knowledge, the information contained therein it was prepared in compliance with the 
applicable accounting standards and provides an accurate and adequate image of the assets and 
liabilities, financial situation and results of SAG Gest and of the Companies included in the consolidation 
perimeter, and that the Management Report accurately reflects the development of business, 
performance and position of SAG Gest and of the Companies included in the consolidation perimeter 
and contains a description of the main risks and uncertainties that confront them. 

 

Alfragide, 2 April 2014 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2013 
 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF THE GROUP’S ACTIVITY 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of SAG Gest - Soluções Automóvel Globais SGPS, SA 
(hereafter SAG Gest) as at 31 December 2013 have been approved and authorized for release 
by the Board of Directors on 2 April  2014. 

The Financial Statements are consolidated in Portugal.  
SAG Group, of which SAG Gest is the parent company, includes Companies operating in 
different business areas in Portugal, which include: 

• distribution and retail operations of new cars of the Volkswagen, Volkswagen – Commercial 
Vehicles, Audi, Škoda, Bentley and Lamborghini Brands 

• distribution and sale of automotive parts and accessories, 

• provision of after sales services (repair and maintenance) of cars 

• sales of multi-brand used cars 

• preparation of new vehicles and body repairs  
SAG Gest, is a holding Company with headquarters at Estrada de Alfragide, 67 – Alfragide, 
Amadora, Portugal. 

2. SUMMARY OF THE MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1 Bases for preparation 
The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared on the basis of historical cost, at the 
revalued amount for Land and Buildings, and at the fair value for Investment Properties and 
Derivative Financial Instruments. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the Separate Financial Statements of the 
Companies included in SAG Gest’s current consolidation perimeter (as described in Note 3), 
relate to the twelve month period ended 31 December 2013, and were prepared using 
accounting policies that are consistent among them. 

All amounts shown in the Notes herein are expressed in thousands of Euros (Eur 000), except 
where otherwise stated. 

 2.2 Compliance statement 
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, in force on 31 
December 2013. 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies 
2.3.1 New rules and interpretations applicable to financial year started on 1 January 2013 
Effective 1 January 2013, the European Union (EU) endorsed the following issues, revisions, 
amendments and improvements to Standards and Interpretations were made. 
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SAG Gest has confirmed that the issuances, revisions, changes and improvements to the above 
mentioned Standards have not caused material impact to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

2.3.2 New Standards and Interpretations already issued, but not yet mandatory 
The new Standards and Interpretations recently issued by IASB to become effective and 
mandatory in periods starting after 1 January 2014 are as follows: 

a) Already endorsed by the EU and not early adopted by SAG: 

 
SAG Gest does not expect that issuances, revisions, changes and improvements to the above 
mentioned Standards will cause material impact to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

b) Already endorsed by the EU and early adopted by SAG: 

 
 

Standards which SAG Gest elected to early adopt with effects from 1 January 2013 are 
summarized as follows: 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements 

This issue establishes a new concept of control and requires a significant judgment to be made 
in order to determine which Entities are controlled and therefore included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Parent Company. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 focuses on the identification and classification of joint arrangements based on rights 
and obligations inherent to the existing agreements, rather than on their legal form. Joint 
arrangements may be considered as “joint operations” (rights over assets and obligations on 
liabilities) or as “joint ventures” (rights over net assets).  
Proportional consolidation of joint ventures is no longer allowed. 
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IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

The Standard establishes a minimum level of disclosures in respect of Subsidiaries, Joint 
Arrangements, Associates and other non-controlled Entities. 

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements 

IAS was revised after issuing of IFRS 11, and currently only provides for accounting and 
disclosure requirements for investments in financial holdings, when Entities present Separate 
Financial Statements. 

IAS 28 - Investments in Associates and Joint Arrangements 

IAS 28 was revised after IFRS 11 was issued and establishes the recognition of investments in 
associates and joint ventures, and additionally establishes the principles for the application of the 
equity method for this type of investment. 

Impacts of the early adoption of the above described Standards are described and identified in 
Notes 2.4.e), 3.2.c) and 16, and are a result of the change in Unidas consolidation method, from 
the Proportional to the Equity Method. Until 1 January 2013, the Unidas Affiliate was included in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements using the Proportional Consolidation Method. 
c) Not yet endorsed by the EU: 

 
 

SAG Gest does not expect that issuances, revisions, changes and improvements to the above 
mentioned Standards will cause material impact to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

2.4 Bases for Consolidation 
Consolidation using the full consolidation method 

a) The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Financial Statements of SAG Gest and 
of the Subsidiaries in whose Share Capital SAG Gest holds a direct or indirect majority stake 
or controls management. Control corresponds to the capacity to manage the entity’s 
financial and operational policy in order to obtain benefits from its activities. 

b) Entities controlled by SAG GEST are considered as Group Companies. Control exists when 
SAG Gest has either direct or indirect power to conduct financial and operational policies of 
an Entity. Potential exercisable voting rights are taken into account when determining 
whether control exists. Control is deemed to exist when the stake held is more than 50%. 
The Financial Statements of such Entities were consolidated using the full consolidation 
method. 

c) Subsidiaries are consolidated using the full consolidation method from the date when SAG 
Gest obtains control until the date when control is lost. Financial Statements of these 
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Subsidiaries are prepared with reference to the same period of the Financial Statements of 
the Parent Company, using accounting principles that are consistent between them. 

d) Changes in the percentage of interests in those Subsidiaries, where no loss of control 
occurs, are recognized as equity transactions, in accordance with IFRS 10 – Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Consolidation using the Equity Method 

e) Affiliates where SAG Gest has a significant influence, namely the Autolombos and Manheim 
Affiliates, were consolidated using the equity method. The Unidas S/A Affiliate was 
consolidated using this method until 30 June 2013, and since 1 July 2013 has been 
recognized as a Non-Current Asset Held for Sale, as disclosed in Notes 3.2 and 16. 

Non-Controlling Interests 

f) Losses are attributed to Non-Controlling Interests, even where that results in a negative 
amount for Non-Controlling Interests.  

g) The amounts representing third party stakes is included in the Consolidated Statement of 
the Financial Position and in the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other 
Comprehensive Income under Non-Controlling Interests. 

Non-Controlling Interests represent the interests of unrelated third parties in the Rolporto, 
Rolvia and Loures Automóveis Subsidiaries. 

h) Non-Controlling Interests are measured at their fair value or according to the acquired 
proportion of the identifiable net assets. Acquisition related expenses are recognized as 
costs. 

Effects of changes in control 

i) When, as a consequence of a transaction, SAG Gest loses control of a Subsidiary, the 
following procedures are adopted: 

• All assets (including Goodwill) and liabilities relating to that Subsidiary are de-recognized 

• The amount of any Non-Controlling Interests is de-recognized 

• Any Cumulative Translation Adjustments included in Equity and relating to such 
Subsidiary are reclassified and included in the results for the year 

• The fair value of the consideration received, if any, is recognized 

• The fair value of interest retained is recognized 

• Any remaining balances are recognized in the result of the year in which the transaction 
is completed 

• Any other items related to the Subsidiary that have affected Comprehensive Income are 
recognized against income for the year 

Consolidation process 

j) Inter-company balances and inter-company transactions (with their corresponding income 
and expenses) between the Entities included in the consolidation perimeter were eliminated 
in the consolidation process. 

k) Dividends paid between Group Companies and jointly controlled Companies are eliminated 
in the consolidation process, in the proportion of the share of control attributable to SAG 
Gest. 

Business combinations and Goodwill 

l) SAG Gest adopted IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, effective 1 January 2004, and 
therefore, as from that date depreciation of Goodwill is no longer recognized. The value of 
Goodwill became subject to impairment tests on an annual basis and whenever necessary.  
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Management considers that the amount of Goodwill shown in the Consolidated Statement of 
the Financial Position is close to the relevant fair value, as disclosed in Note 20. 

m) From 1 January 2009 onwards, SAG Gest applied the revised IFRS 3 – Business 
Combinations. Business acquisitions are recognized using the purchase method, with cost 
being measured as the sum of the fair value as at the acquisition date, the consideration 
paid and the value of any Non-Controlling Interests in the acquired Entity. 

n) Where acquisitions of businesses are performed in stages, the fair value on the date of each 
purchase of previously acquired interests is re-measured at the fair value on the date of 
each subsequent purchase, and corresponding gains or losses are recognized in the results 
for the year. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at its fair value on acquisition date. Any 
subsequent changes to this fair value that is considered as an asset or a liability will be 
recognized according to IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in 
the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income. If that contingency is 
considered as Equity, it shall not be re-measured until it is established as a component of 
Equity. 

o) Differences between the book value of Financial Investments and the acquisition values of 
the Entities consolidated are reported as follows: 

• Where the acquisition price is higher than the acquired Entity’s equity value, such 
difference is recognized as Goodwill, within Intangible Assets 

• Where the acquisition price is lower than the acquired Entity’s equity value, such 
differences affect Net Result in the financial year in which the acquisition occurs 

First consolidation adjustments 

p) Differences determined on the date of the first consolidation (in 1998) regardless of their 
(positive or negative) nature, were recognized directly against Consolidated Equity, under 
First Consolidation Adjustments and are as follows: 
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2.5 Main Accounting Policies 

Income Recognition (Note 4) 
Income is recognized as such to the extent that the Entity is likely to derive future economic 
benefits and that the amount of such Income can be measured reliably. 

In order for Income to be recognized, the following criteria must be fulfilled: 

a) Sales of goods 

Income is recognized when the significant economic risks and benefits resulting from the 
ownership of the asset have been passed to the Buyer and such Income can be measured 
reliably. 

In the case of cars, Income recognition usually coincides with car ownership transfer, which 
occurs, in most cases, simultaneously with the issuing of the corresponding sales invoice. 

In transactions where, simultaneously with the issuing of the sales invoice, the Selling Entity or 
any other Entity included in the consolidation perimeter, undertakes a repurchase commitment 
for the same vehicle (“buy-back” transactions), the principles set forth in IAS 18 – Revenue are 
applied. Therefore, the amounts invoiced for such transactions are not recognized as Income, 
and other expenses or income relating to this kind of transaction are recognized on a straight-
line basis during the period in which these commitments are in force, which generally 
corresponds to the period of time between the invoice date and the date on which the vehicle 
is repurchased. 

b) Services 

Income from Services is recognized during the period in which the services are actually 
provided, regardless of whether or not an invoice was issued. 

c) Interest 

Interest Income is accrued so that it is recognized in the corresponding period, regardless of 
whether or not the corresponding support document was generated. 

d) Dividends 
Dividend income is recognized when, in substance, the reporting Entity has an obligation to 
declare a Dividend. 

Discontinued Operations (Note 15) 

Following the corporate restructuring process, which included the sale of assets considered as 
non-strategic for SAG Gest, and in order to ensure proper comparison of information reported in 
respect of the periods ended 31 December, the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and in the relevant Notes were adjusted when applicable so as to exclude the 
amounts of operations that have been discontinued during each financial year. During the 2013 
financial year there were no discontinued operations 

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale (Note 16) 
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale are recognized as such where their carrying amount is 
expected to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing 
use. For this to be the case: 
a) The Asset must be available for immediate sale in its current condition, subject only to terms 

that are usual and customary for sales of such assets, i.e., the Group has the intention and 
ability to transfer the asset to a buyer in its current conditions; 

The sale must be highly probable, and for that purpose, management shall show its 
commitment to a sale plan, which shall have been initiated. The actions required to complete 
the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes will be made or that the 
plan will it be withdrawn. In addition, the sales price shall be appropriated when compared to 
the asset’s current fair value; 
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b) A sale transaction shall be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one 
year from date of recognition of the asset as a Non-Current Asset Held for Sale. This period 
may be extended should any events or circumstances occur that are beyond SAG Gest's 
control, and if the intention to sell the asset is maintained. 

c) The sale shall be genuine, i.e., the asset shall not be abandoned. 

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale shall be measured at the lower of: 

a) its carrying amount; and 

b) fair value, less costs to sell. 

Before its transfer into Non-Current Assets Held for Sale, an asset's carrying amount shall be 
determined in accordance with the applicable IFRS. Where the asset to be transferred is an 
investment in an affiliate, its carrying amount shall represent the amount resulting from the 
adoption of the Equity Method on transfer date. 
Should such asset be devalued, the corresponding impairment loss shall be established and 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of the Results and Other Comprehensive Income, 
under Impairment of Assets. 

Should there be a valuation of the asset, a gain must be recognized in the period under 
Impairment of Assets. However, such gain shall not exceed the cumulative impairment loss that 
has already been recognized. 

Recognized impairment losses or any subsequent gains shall decrease or increase the carrying 
amount of Non-Current Asset Held for Sale. 

Any loss or gain that was not previously recognized as at the date of sale a Non-Current Asset 
Held for Sale shall be recognized on the date of de-recognition. 

With effect from 1 July 2013, SAG Gest recognized its investment in Unidas S/A as Non-Current 
Asset Held for Sale, as disclosed in Note 16. 

Income Tax (Note 17) 
The Entities included in the consolidation operating in Portugal that comply with the provisions of 
Article 69 of the Portuguese Corporate Income Tax Code (“CIRC”) chose to apply the 
Portuguese Special Regime for Taxation of Groups of Companies (“RETGS”) during the year 
2013. 

Accordingly, Portuguese Income Tax is the result of the addition of individual income tax 
amounts due by each of the Entities included in consolidation. 

In accordance with current legislation, Portuguese tax returns are subject to review and 
correction by the Tax Authorities within a four-year period (five to ten years for Social Security, 
depending on the application of the transitional regime). Hence, the tax returns of the 
Companies included in the consolidation in respect to the years 2010 to 2013, may still be 
subject to review by Tax Authorities, although the Group considers that any possible corrections 
resulting from tax reviews to such tax returns will not have any material impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2013. The corporate income tax rate 
applied in the 2013 financial year is 25%. The income tax surtaxes are detailed in Note 17. 

SAG Gest adopted the recognition of deferred taxes, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set forth in IAS 12 – Income Taxes, as a way of suitably matching the tax effects of its 
operations and to exclude distortions associated with tax criteria that would affect the economic 
results of certain transactions. 

Deferred Tax Assets are recognized whenever there is reasonable certainty that future profits 
will be generated against which the assets may be used. Deferred Tax Assets are annually 
revised and reduced whenever it is no longer likely that they might be used. 

The amount of Deferred Taxes is determined by using tax rates (and laws) enacted or 
substantially enacted on reporting date and expected to be applied during the time of recovery of 
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the Deferred Tax Asset or of payment of the Deferred Tax Liability. According to current 
legislation in Portugal, the 23% corporate income tax rate was considered and, in situations not 
related to tax losses, 1.5% income tax surtax (“Derrama”) was considered in calculating Deferred 
Tax Assets or Liabilities resulting from for temporary differences between the tax and book basis 
of assets and liabilities. 

The changes recorded during the period, the reconciliation between the Provision for Income 
Taxes for the period and Current Income Tax, as well as the breakdown of Deferred Taxes are 
disclosed in Note 17. 

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 19) 

Property, Plant and Equipment, with the exception of Buildings, are recognized at cost, which 
includes all costs associated with their respective acquisition. Buildings are recognized at their 
revalued amount. 
Depreciation is calculated based on cost or re-valued amounts, using the straight-line method, 
except in the case mentioned below, in order to fully depreciate the assets until the end of their 
estimated useful life, as follows: 

 % 
Buildings and Other Constructions 2.00 to 16.66 
Basic Equipment 10.00 to 31.25 
Autos and Trucks 14.28 to 25.00 
Tools 10.00 to 25.00 
Office Equipment 10.00 to 33.33 
Other Tangible Assets 10.00 to 33.33 

 

In the Globalrent Subsidiary, depreciation of vehicles recorded as Basic Equipment assigned to 
the Rent-a-Car operations (short-term car rental without a driver), is calculated so as to reflect 
the estimated loss in the value of the car during the time of its planned usage, using the straight-
line method. 

Expenses incurred in connection with the repair and maintenance of equipment are recognized 
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 

Intangible Assets (Notes 20 and 21) 

a) Goodwill 
The positive consolidation differences (Goodwill) represent the excess of the acquisition cost 
over identifiable Equity as at acquisition date, as at the date of the change in control that 
requires a change in the consolidation method, or as at the date of first consolidation. 
Goodwill is assigned to the cash generating units for the performance of impairment tests. 
Goodwill is not amortized, and its value is reduced by any impairment losses. Impairment 
losses are determined annually on reporting date, or whenever there are signs of a loss in 
value. Any loss in value (impairment) is recognized on the result for the period, and cannot be 
subsequently reversed. 

Gains or losses arising from the sale of an Entity / cash-generating unit are calculated with 
the inclusion of the relevant Goodwill amounts. 

As set forth in Appendix B of IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards, SAG Gest chose to neither apply calculations retroactively to determine 
the value of Goodwill in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, nor to 
retroactively apply IAS 21 – Effects of Changes in Exchange Rates, in respect of acquisitions 
completed on or before 1 January 2004. 
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b) Store Key-money 
Key-money expenses are recognized during the period of the applicable rental agreement. 
The amount related to Store key-money was allocated to the cash-generating units for the 
performance of impairment tests. 

c) Other Intangible Assets 
Other Intangible Assets are measured at cost. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis, using depreciation rates that allow full depreciation of such assets until the end of their 
useful life. 

Investments in Affiliates (Note 22) 
SAG Gest’s investments in Affiliates are recognized using the equity method. In accordance with 
this method, investments are recognized at their acquisition cost, adjusted by the percentage 
held by SAG Gest in eventual subsequent changes affecting the equity of those Entities. If any 
signs of impairment are identified, such Financial Investments are subject to impairment tests. 
The results of the period reflect the appropriation by SAG Gest of its share in the results of the 
Affiliates’ operations. 

Dividends recognized during the year are deducted from the carrying amount of Financial 
Investments. 

When SAG Gest loses significant influence, the retained Financial Investment is recognized at 
its fair value (with impact on the year’s results). 

Investment Properties (Note 23) 

Investment Properties relate to land and buildings held for income and/or capital valuation, or 
both, that are not used in current business operations (rendering of services or sales). 

Investment Properties are recognized at their fair value, reflecting market conditions on reporting 
date. Changes in valuations are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of the Results and 
Other Comprehensive Income under Fair Value Adjustments for the relevant year. 
Expenses incurred (maintenance, repairs, insurance and property tax), as well as any income 
and rentals received from Investment Properties, are recognized in the Consolidated Statement 
of Results and Other Comprehensive Income for the relevant year. 

Inventories (Note 24) 

Inventories are measured at the lowest of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value 
represents the expected sales price less costs to sell.  

Cost is determined as follows: 

• New Cars – acquisition cost plus any other additional purchase expenses; 

• Used Cars - When vehicles recognized in Inventory result from trade-in transactions, they 
are valued at the purchase cost determined at the trade-in valuation; 

• Buy-Back vehicles – The recognized cost corresponds to the acquisition value agreed for 
the Buy-Back date, after deduction of any impairment losses; 

• Spare parts and other saleable goods – average purchase cost plus any other expenses 
incurred prior to the respective entry into Inventories. 

For the purposes of calculation of the Parts Inventory Adjustment, stock turnover is 
established by type of material, based on inventory transactions recorded during the last 24 
months. This criterion is applied consistently.  

Contingent Assets and Liabilities (Notes 25 and 36) 

Contingent Assets are not recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements, and are only 
disclosed when there is likelihood of a future economic benefit. 
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Contingent Liabilities are not recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements and are 
disclosed in the Notes, unless the likelihood of an outflow of funds is remote, in which case they 
are not disclosed. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 32) 

For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Cash and Banks balances 
shown in the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position include amounts with a maturity 
of three months or less, considered at their value, net of bank overdrafts, which are reported in 
the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position under Current Liabilities. 

Equity Instruments (Note 33)  
Equity Instruments are classified according to contract terms, regardless of their legal form. 
Equity Instruments issued by Group Companies are recognized at the amount received, net of 
the costs incurred with their issuing. 
Provisions (Note 36) 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has an obligation (legal or constructive) resulting 
from past actions, that is likely to result in a future outflow of economic resources in connection 
with such obligation, and the latter can be measured reliably. 

Subsequent Events (Note 47) 
Events taking place after reporting date that provide additional information on the conditions 
prevailing on reporting date are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
Events taking place after reporting date that provide additional information on the conditions 
prevailing after the reporting date are disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, if material. 

Financial Assets (other than Financial Investments) 

Depending on the intention of the Board of Directors at the time of the acquisition of the 
Financial Assets, they may be classified as described below 

a) Loans and Receivables 

b) Held-to-Maturity Investments 

c) Investments Held for Trading measured at their fair value through profit and loss  
d) Financial Assets Available for Sale 

a) ) Loans and Receivables (Notes 25, 26 and 27) 
These include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments. Customer 
and Other Debtors are recognized at their nominal value, after deduction of any impairment 
losses, so that the amounts included in the Financial Statements reflect their net realizable 
value. 

b) Held-to-Maturity Investments 
Held-to-Maturity Investments are recognized as Non-Current Investments, except if their 
maturity occurs less than 12 months from reporting date. Investments with a set maturity, 
which SAG Gest has the intention and capacity to hold until such date, are recognized under 
this item. Held-to-Maturity Investments are recognized at their amortized cost, less 
impairment losses, if any. 

During 2013, no situation existed to which the above mentioned policy would apply. 

c) Investments Held for Trading measured at their fair value through profit and loss 
This category, which is reported as Current Assets, includes non-derivative Financial Assets 
held for trading, and derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
purposes. 
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A Financial Asset is considered to be held for trading if:  
• it was acquired or incurred with the objective of being sold or repurchased within a very 

short term; 

• it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are jointly managed and for 
which there is evidence of an actual recent model of a short-term profit-taking transaction; 

• it is a derivative (except where a derivative is a designated and effective coverage 
instrument). 

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of Investments Held for Trading 
measured at fair value through profit and loss are included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Results and Other Comprehensive Income for the period during which those changes occur, 
under Fair Value Adjustments. 

During 2013, no situation existed to which the above mentioned policy would apply. 

d) Financial Assets Available for Sale 
Investments Available for Sale are Non-Derivative Financial Assets that: 

• SAG Gest intends to keep for undetermined period of time, or  
• Are designated as such at the moment of acquisition, or  
• Do not fit any of the remaining categories of Financial Assets.  
These Assets are presented as Non-Current Assets, except if there is an intention to sell 
them within 12 months of reporting date. 

Following initial recognition, Investments Available for Sale are measured at their fair value, 
by reference to the relevant market value on reporting date, with no deduction of transaction 
costs which may occur until their sale. 
Investments that are not listed and whose fair value is impossible to determine are held at 
cost, with less impairment losses, if any. 

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of a Financial Asset Available for 
Sale must be recognized under Other Comprehensive Income, except in the case of 
impairment losses and of gains or losses in exchange rates, until the financial asset is 
derecognized. On that moment, the accrued gain or loss previously recognized under Other 
Comprehensive Income shall be reclassified from Equity into profit or loss, as reclassification 
adjustments. When any of these situations occurs, accrued gains or losses are recognized in 
the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other Comprehensive Income, under Financial 
Income and Expenses. 
During 2013, no situation existed to which the above mentioned policy would apply. 

Impairment of Assets 
On each reporting date, SAG Gest evaluates any signs of impairment which could affect the 
value of its Assets. Whenever these occur, or whenever the IFRS require the performance of 
impairment tests, SAG Gest estimates the recoverable value of the Asset, which corresponds to 
the Asset’s highest market value, less costs to sell, or the asset’s value in use. In the event of an 
impairment situation, the value of the Asset is reduced in order to reflect its net realizable value. 

Financial Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities are classified according to contract terms, regardless of their legal form, and 
are classified as follows: 

a) Financial Liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss 

b) Bank Loans 

c) Accounts Payable 



 

SAG GEST – Soluções Automóvel Globais, SGPS, S.A. – Sociedade Aberta 
C.R.C. Amadora n.º 503219886 – Capital Social: EUR 169.764.398 – Contribuinte N.º 503 219 886 

Sede: Estrada de Alfragide, n.º. 67 – 2614-519 Amadora 
55

a) Financial Liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss 
This category includes Financial Liabilities held for trading, and derivatives that do not qualify 
for hedge accounting purposes and that are presented in this manner on initial recognition. 

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of Financial Liabilities measured at 
fair value through the profit and loss are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Results 
and Other Comprehensive Income for the period, under Fair Value Adjustments.  

During 2013, no situation occurred to which the above policy could apply. 

b) Bank Loans 
Loans are measured at their amortized cost, and the amount received is net of charges 
incurred with issuing such Loans. Financial Expenses are calculated using the effective 
interest rate method and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other 
Comprehensive Income, under Financial Expenses, on an accrual basis. 

c) Accounts Payable  
Trade Suppliers and Other Creditors are initially recognized at their nominal value which is 
deemed to represent their fair value, and are subsequently recognized, where applicable, at 
their amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.  

Leasing 
Fixed Assets acquired under financial lease contracts, or other contractual instruments that, in 
substance, represent financial leases, are recognized as financial leases, in accordance with the 
provisions set forth in IAS 17 – Leases. 

Accordingly, on the one hand, Tangible Assets are recognized after deduction of their respective 
cumulative depreciation and, on the other, Liabilities representing the outstanding principal 
payments are recognized at their amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method. 
Interest expenses included in contractual installments and depreciation are recognized as 
expenses in the relevant period. 
Foreign Currency Denominated Transactions 
The functional currency used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements of 
SAG Gest and its Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Associates is the Euro, except for Unidas S/A, 
whose functional currency is the Brazilian Real.  
The Financial Statements of Unidas S/A for the period ended on 30 June 2013 are translated 
into Euros in accordance with the following procedures: 

• The Statement of the Financial Position was converted to Euros using the exchange rate 
prevailing at the close of business on reporting period; 

• The Income Statement expressed in Euros was the result of adding all monthly Income 
Statements after each one of them is converted into Euros using the exchange rate 
prevailing at the end of each month. 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies (outside the Euro Zone) are converted into 
Euros using the exchange rate prevailing on transaction date. Foreign currency denominated 
accounts receivable and payable are converted into Euros using the exchange rate prevailing on 
reporting date. 
Non-currency assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, and recognized at their fair 
value, are converted into the functional currency of each Subsidiary or Affiliate, using the 
exchange rate prevailing on the date the relevant fair value is determined. Subsequently, and for 
each reporting date, those amounts are reconverted to SAG Gest’s functional currency using the 
exchange rate prevailing on reporting date.  
All exchange rate differences determined following the application of these procedures are 
recognized as Income or Expense for the period, except for Cumulative Translation Adjustments 
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resulting from the process of translating Unidas S/A Financial Statements, which were 
recognized against Consolidated Equity in the period ended on 30 June 2013. 

As a result of the facts disclosed in Note 16, the amount recorded in Consolidated Equity for 
Cumulative Translation Adjustments in Unidas S/A Financial Statements represents the 
cumulative amount until 30 June 2013, date after which Unidas S/A became recognized as Non-
Current Asset Held for Sale.  
Exchange differences arising from the conversion of balances between Group Companies are 
recognized as Income or Expenses of the period in the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
unless those balances are considered as part of the net investment in a foreign Subsidiary, in 
which case they are recognized in Equity. 

 
2.6. Management Judgments 

In the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, the Board 
of Directors uses estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the 
reported amounts. Estimates and judgments are consistently evaluated and are based on the 
experience of past events and other factors, including expectations in respect of future events 
that are considered to be likely in view of the circumstances on which the estimates were based 
or are the result of an acquired information or experience. The most significant accounting 
estimates contained in the Consolidated Financial Statements are as follows: 
a) Analysis of Goodwill Impairment 

Goodwill is tested annually and whenever circumstances arise which may lead to believe that 
its book value could be in an impairment situation. The recoverable amounts of cash 
generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. The use of this 
method requires the estimate of the future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing 
operation of the cash generating unit and the choice of a suitable discount rate. 

b) Valuation and Useful Life of Intangible Assets 
SAG Gest has used various assumptions in estimating future cash flows resulting from 
Intangible Assets acquired as part of processes of acquisition of Entities, which include the 
estimate of future revenues, discount rates and useful life of the said assets. 

c) Recognition of Provisions and Adjustments 
SAG Gest is currently party to various legal cases for which, based on the opinion of its Legal 
Advisors, an assessment is made to determine whether a Provision should be recorded in 
respect of such contingencies. 

Adjustments for Accounts Receivable are essentially calculated based on the ageing of the 
open items that correspond to the balances of Accounts Receivables, the Clients’ risk profile 
and their financial condition. Estimates related to Adjustments for Accounts Receivable differ 
from business to business. 
Adjustments for Inventories are calculated on the basis of the expected sales price of the 
relevant goods. 

d) Assessment of the market value of Financial Instruments 
SAG Gest chooses the valuation method that it considers appropriate to determine the 
market value of Financial Instruments not listed in an active market based on its best 
knowledge of the market and the assets. In this process, the Group applies the valuation 
techniques commonly used by market practitioners, and uses assumptions based on market 
rates. 

e) Going Concern 
 The Group’s operational activities have contributed positively to the Consolidated Net Result, 

but this contribution has not been sufficient to offset the Group’s financial expenses that are 
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essentially linked to investments made by SAG Gest in the acquisition of the portfolio of 
businesses conducted by the Group, particularly the investment performed in the acquisition 
of the Unidas Affiliate. 

 The strategic plan which is being implemented since 2008 included the now completed sale 
of several non-strategic assets, and aims to ensure SAG’s Group profitability and 
sustainability. It provided for the adoption of measures which would ensure optimization of 
the value of the holding in Unidas, in such a way that its sale would enable a reduction in 
Group debt and, consequently, together with recovery in the volumes of the Portuguese 
automotive market, the consistent and sustainable reestablishment of SAG’s Group historical 
profitability levels 
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3. CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES 

3.1. Companies included in the Consolidation 
The Subsidiaries and Affiliates included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as well as their 
main financial indicators as at 31 December 2013 are as follows: 

(1) Entities included in consolidation using the Full Consolidation Method  

 
(2) Entities included in consolidation using the Equity Method 

 
 

3.2. Main Changes in the Consolidation Perimeter 
a) During the 3rd Quarter 2012, SAG Gest’s wholly and directly owned Usado OK Subsidiary 

was liquidated, and is no longer included in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

b) In June 2012, SAG Gest sold the minority stake (20.93%) it held in CRE - S.G.P.S. Affiliate 
which, consequently, is no longer included in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

c) Following early adoption of the Standards mentioned on 2.3.2 b), Unidas S/A was 
consolidated using to the Equity Method during the period between 1 January 2013 and 30 
June 2013. After this date it was recognized as Non-Current Assets Held for Sale. 
Implications of the change from the Proportional Consolidation Method to the Equity Method 
and of the subsequent classification as Non-Current Assets Held for Sale are disclosed in 
Note 16, and all comparative financial information was restated to ensure comparability. 

 

  



 

SAG GEST – Soluções Automóvel Globais, SGPS, S.A. – Sociedade Aberta 
C.R.C. Amadora n.º 503219886 – Capital Social: EUR 169.764.398 – Contribuinte N.º 503 219 886 

Sede: Estrada de Alfragide, n.º. 67 – 2614-519 Amadora 
59

4. REPORTING BY BUSINESS SEGMENT 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business segments, as follows: 

• The Distribution segment corresponds namely to automotive distribution activities in Portugal 
of the Volkswagen, Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Škoda, Audi, Bentley and 
Lamborghini Brands, as well as sale of spare parts and accessories; 

• The Retail segment corresponds to activities involving the retail sale of new and semi-used 
vehicles of the Volkswagen, Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and Audi Brands, 
the sale of multi-brand used vehicles, the sale of parts and accessories, as well as repair 
and maintenance services for Volkswagen, Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and 
Audi vehicles; 

• Other Operations include activities of the Group’s Holding company, as well as of the 
Group’s shared services unit and new car preparation, of Rent-a-Car activities in Portugal, 
the results of Unidas S/A (for the reporting periods up to 30 June 2013) and the Manheim 
Affiliate, which are included in SAG Gest’s Consolidated Financial Statements using the 
Equity Method. 

Operating results of the cash flow generating units are monitored separately with the objective of 
deciding in respect of allocation of resources and monitoring performance. Performance of each 
segment is evaluated on the basis of the net operating income and on their contribution to the 
net consolidated operating income.  

However, Group financing and taxes are mostly managed on a Group basis and are not 
allocated to operational segments. 

Transfer prices applied to transactions between business segments are determined on an arm’s 
length basis, similar in all aspects to transactions conducted with unrelated bona fide third 
parties. 
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Business segments 

The following disclose the results, assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2013 and their comparison with identical information as at 31 December 
2012, adjusted to the facts mentioned in Note 3.2, of the various business segments where the Group develops its operations: 

 
(1)As a result of the facts disclosed in Note 16, the above amount includes Eur 2,333.9 thousand representing SAG Gest’s appropriation of 

the Unidas S/A net result until 30 June 2013. 
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(2)As a result of the facts disclosed in Note 16, the above amount includes Eur 2,029.5 thousand representing SAG Gest’s appropriation of the 

Unidas S/A net result until 31 December 2012. 

To remove any signs of impairment in respect of the Non-Current Assets Held for Sale which corresponds to SAG Gest’s stake in Unidas S/A, Unidas 
was evaluated using the “Free Cash Flow to Equity” method, as disclosed in Note 16. 

Amounts shown as Discontinued Business are a consequence of the facts disclosed in Note 15. 
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5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
Other Operating Income is as follows: 

 
 
6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
Other Operating Expenses are as follows: 

 
 
7. SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES – COMMERCIAL EXPENSES 
Third Party Supplies and Services – Commercial Expenses are as follows: 
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8. SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES – CAR EXPENSES 
Third Party Supplies and Services – Commercial Expenses are as follows: 

 
 

9. SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES – OVERHEADS 
Third Party Supplies and Services – Overheads are as follows: 

 
 
10. PAYROLL EXPENSES 
Payroll Expenses are as follows: 
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The number of Group Employees was as follows: 

 
 

11. GAINS AND LOSSES IN THE SALE OF FIXED ASSETS 
Gains and Losses in the Sale of Fixed Assets are as follows: 

 
The amount reported as Losses in the Sale of Fixed Assets represents the net amount of 
realized losses and gains in the sale of fixed assets. 

Due to the enactment of the New Urban Rental System, rental agreements in respect of 
buildings being used in operational activities now have a term of 5 years, after which the 
agreement may be canceled. Therefore, it was decided to recognize an annual impairment of 1/5 
of the corresponding Key Money amount, so that the same is zero at the end of this 5 year term. 

 
12. FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
Financial Expenses are as follows: 

 
 
As reported in Note 45, the Group requested several Financial Institutions to issue Bank 
Guarantees for the benefit of third parties (most of which are Group suppliers) for a total, as at 
31 December 2013, of Eur 134,098.6 thousand (Eur 145,804.4 as at 31 December 2012).  

 

13. FINANCIAL INCOME 
Financial Income is as follows: 

 
 

14. GAINS AND LOSSES IN GROUP COMPANIES 
Gains and Losses in Group Companies represent the appropriation, by SAG Gest, of the net 
results reported during the period by Affiliates consolidated using the Equity Method. In these 
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Affiliates, SAG Gest does not hold a majority stake but has significant influence on their 
management. 

In 2013, it also includes a loss of Eur 1,852.0 thousand incurred with the sale on 13 December 
2013 of 75% of its stake in the Manheim Affiliate, which decreased from 40% to 10%. A further 
cost of Eur 212.8 thousand was recognized as an impairment in respect of the interest retained 
in said Affiliate. 

These amounts are detailed as follows: 

 
40% of the net results of the Manheim Affiliate were appropriated during the twelve months 
ended 31 December 2013 since the sale of SAG Gest’s stake, and subsequent reduction to 
10%, occurred on 13 December 2013. The loss from the reduction in the stake was the result of 
the sale, for the symbolic price of Eur 1, of shares representing 30% of the Affiliate’s share 
capital, as well as of 75% of the Supplementary Capital Payments performed by SAG Gest in the 
Affiliate (whose total acquisition price and appropriated results were recognized for Eur 1,852.0 
thousand). Such loss and the carrying cost of the investment in the Affiliate were calculated as 
follows: 

 
 

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
Discontinued Operations in 2012 result from the implementation of a corporate restructuring 
process which included the divestment from the assets indicated below, which were considered 
as not strategic for the Group’s future development. 

Results from the Usado OK Subsidiary and from the CRE - S.G.P.S. Affiliate that are reported in 
respect of the twelve and three months ended 31 December 2012 as Results from Discontinued 
Operations are as follows: 
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On June 2012, the Group sold the minority stake (20.93%) it held in the CRE – S.G.P.S. Affiliate, 
and consequently recognized a loss of Eur 748.5 thousand. The amount of this Capital Loss was 
determined as follows: 

 
 

16. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

a) Change to the Consolidation Method following the early adoption of the Standards 
mentioned in Note 2.3.2 b). 
The change in Unidas S/A’s consolidation method between 1 January and 30 June 2013 
means that the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2013 cannot be 
directly comparable to the Consolidated Financial Statements of previous reporting periods, 
namely the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2012. The 2012 amounts 
were restated to ensure comparability of the financial information for this period. 

SAG Gest’s Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position and the Consolidated 
Statement of Results and Other Comprehensive Income as at 31 December 2012 included 
the amounts below in respect of Unidas S/A, which corresponded to 52.72% of the amounts, 
converted to Euros, of the assets and liabilities that were part of the Affiliate’s Financial 
Position as at the same date. 
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On 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2012, Unidas S/A assets and liabilities (on a 100% basis, 
converted in Euros using the exchange rate current on the reporting date for each period) 
were as follows: 
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The amounts in the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other Comprehensive Income for 
the six months ended 30 June 2013, 30 June 2012 and for the twelve months ended 31 
December 2012, on a 100% basis, and converted into Euros using the procedures described 
in Note 2.5 - Summary of Main Accounting Policies (Transactions in Foreign Currency) were 
as follows: 

 
SAG Gest’s appropriation of the net result of Unidas S/A, in the proportion of its stake in 
Unidas S/A’s share capital, was included in the Consolidated Financial Statements using the 
Equity Method during the period between 1 January 2013 and 30 June 2013. This change in 
the consolidation method did not cause any change in the Consolidated Net Result resulting 
from the consolidation of Unidas S/A using the consolidation method adopted until 31 
December 2012. Until 31 December 2012, this Affiliate was consolidated using the 
Proportional Method. 
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(1) As a result of the facts disclosed, the appropriation of Unidas S/A’s results refers to the 
six months ended 30 June 2013. After this date, Unidas S/A was recognized as a Non-
Current Assets Held for Sale. 

Exchange rates used in converting Unidas S/A’s amounts into Euros in the above mentioned 
periods were as follows: 

 
As reported in Note 4, amounts in respect of Unidas S/A are included in the “Other 
Operations” segment. 

b) Recognition of Financial Investment as Non-Current Asset Held for Sale  

The strategic plan which is being implemented since 2008 with the aim of ensuring SAG’s 
Group sustainable profitability includes the sale of the stake the Group has in Unidas. In 
accordance with this plan, the Board of Directors formalized on 26 September 2013 the 
decision to sell this stake, and therefore, effective 1 July 2013, the stake held by SAG Gest in 
Unidas S/A became recognized as a Non-Current Assets Held for Sale as it was considered 
that conditions set forth in IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations were fulfilled, and that this asset was no longer considered strategic for SAG 
Gest. The carrying amount of this investment is expected to be recovered through its sale 
rather than through its continuing use. The Affiliate started during the 1st Half of 2013, the 
procedure required to issue an IPO at the São Paulo Stock Exchange (BOVESPA). This 
procedure was expected to produce a market pricing for Unidas which would become a 
benchmark in a sales transaction of the stake held by SAG Gest. The suspension of the IPO 
procedure already in 2014 due to the unfavorable conditions in the Brazilian market did not 
affect the sales plan that was set, nor SAG Gest’s intention to complete a sales transaction.  
Following the capital increase approved in July 2013, Unidas issued 147,471,000 shares 
which were fully subscribed by the Investment Funds. These Funds now jointly hold 65.25% 
of Unidas’s share capital. SAG Gest now holds a direct and indirect stake which corresponds 
to 34.75% of the capital, represented by 18,791,552 shares, and remains as Unidas’ largest 
shareholder. Unidas’ management and operations control continues to be shared between 
SAG Gest and the Funds. 

c) Impairment analysis 

A valuation of Unidas was conducted in 2013, and its conclusions are reported below. 

The valuation was performed using the Free Cash Flow to Equity methodology to determine 
Unida’s Equity value. 

Future Cash Flows were discounted using the Cost of Equity ('ke') determined as follows: 
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For the calculations of the future Cash Flows to be discounted, several assumptions were 
established in respect of the development of the economy and of the renting and rent-a-car 
markets in Brazil, and assumptions were established for the development of the company’s 
business areas, namely in what relates to production and profitability indicators. 

The development of the production indicators, both in rent-a-car (number of rental days) and 
in renting (number of contracts) are closely related to the trends of the Brazilian GDP. These 
two business segments in Brazil have not yet reached the level of development as in 
countries with mature markets, and for this reason their growth rate is currently higher, but is 
expected to decrease gradually, as the market approaches the development stage of such 
more mature markets (USA and Western Europe). 
The main assumptions used in the projection of Unidas’ future activity can be summarized as 
follows: 

RAC 

• The volume of rental days was projected considered a Brazilian GDP growth multiple 
which is gradually reduced, from the historical figure observed in 2013 until its 
stabilization at 2.5x GDP in 2019. 

• The average price of rental days (the Average Ticket) progresses in accordance with the 
projection for the Brazilian inflation rate (IPCA). 

Renting 

• Progression of the portfolio and of the number of contracts considers a Brazilian GDP 
growth multiple which decreases with time until it stabilizes at 3.0x GDP in 2019. 

• The average length of the contracts is 26 months, according to the recent historical 
average. 

• Average depreciation per contract is 33.8%. 

• The interest spread is kept at historical levels, and only progresses in accordance with 
interest rate performance (CDI). 

Other assumptions 

• The vehicles purchase price progresses in accordance with inflation. 

• A 7% margin was considered in the sale of vehicles, representing the margin 
represented between the sales price and the car’s book value at the end of its activity 
period. 

Cost of Equity (ke) 2013

Risk Free Rate 2.6%
Country Risk Rate ‐ Brazil 2.3%
Market Risk Premium 5.5%

Unlevered Beta (bU) 0.65
Levered Beta (bL) 1.00

Cost of Equity (ke)  ‐ USD 10.4%

Inflation Country Difference Premium 3.0%

Cost of Equity (ke)  ‐ BRL 13.7%

Tax Rate 34.0%

E / (E+D) 55.0%
D / (E+D) 45.0%
D / E 81.8%
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• Direct costs during the projection period vary between 18.5% and 20% of Net Revenue, 
and are in line with historical values. 

• Overheads change from 26% of Net Revenue to 22% in 2018, reflecting the dilution 
effect of overheads in the growing turnover. 

The assumptions with higher impact on the valuation are as follows: 

- GDP growth multiple, in both RAC and Renting 

- Average Ticket trend, in RAC 

- Average term of contracts, in Renting 

- Average annual depreciation of vehicles, in Renting  
A sensitivity analysis was performed on all the above parameters in BRL, and the results 
were subsequently converted into Eur (thousand) using the 3.3 EUR/BRL exchange rate 
prevailing on 31 December 2013. The result of the sensitivity analysis is shown in the tables 
below: 

 RAC: 

• GDP growth multiple in RAC  

 
• Average Ticket trend in RAC 

 
Renting 

• GDP growth multiple in Renting  

 
• Average term of contracts in Renting 

 
  

430,952 1.5x 2.0x 2.5x 3.0x 3.5x
12.7% 444,026 464,613 486,389 509,364 533,558
13.2% 418,141 437,187 457,329 478,577 500,948
13.7% 394,624 412,281 430,952 450,645 471,376
14.2% 373,178 389,581 406,923 425,210 444,459
14.7% 353,555 368,820 384,956 401,970 419,875

PIB Growth Multiple

Ke

430,952 0.2x 0.3x 0.5x 0.8x 1.0x
12.7% 371,194 402,728 486,389 576,226 666,782
13.2% 350,186 379,523 457,329 540,851 625,069
13.7% 331,082 358,435 430,952 508,773 587,267
14.2% 313,643 339,197 406,923 479,577 552,885
14.7% 297,669 321,588 384,956 452,915 521,506

IPCA Growth Multiple

Ke

430,952 2.0x 2.5x 3.0x 3.5x 4.0x
12.7% 458,388 472,088 486,389 501,291 516,798
13.2% 431,443 444,109 457,329 471,103 485,434
13.7% 406,970 418,705 430,952 443,711 456,984
14.2% 384,660 395,555 406,923 418,764 431,082
14.7% 364,252 374,385 384,956 395,967 407,419

PIB Growth Multiple

Ke

430,952 22 24 26 28 30
12.7% 560,664 520,449 486,389 457,172 431,843
13.2% 526,650 489,116 457,329 430,060 406,418
13.7% 495,792 460,684 430,952 405,445 383,329
14.2% 467,694 434,788 406,923 383,016 362,285
14.7% 442,021 411,122 384,956 362,507 343,038

Contract Length

Ke
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• Average annual depreciation of vehicles in Renting 

 
 

Evaluation Summary 

 
The carrying amount of this asset as recognized in Non-Current Assets Held for Sale in the 
Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position as at 31 December 2013 is Eur 157,608.1 
thousand, which corresponds to its carrying amount as at 30 June 2013. Therefore, and in view 
of the results of the asset’s evaluation, the asset’s carrying amount shows no sign of being in an 
impairment situation. 

  

  

430,952 10.0% 12.5% 15.6% 17.5% 20.0%
12.7% 460,724 472,216 486,389 495,061 506,454
13.2% 433,317 444,070 457,329 465,441 476,098
13.7% 408,438 418,522 430,952 438,558 448,549
14.2% 385,769 395,245 406,923 414,068 423,453
14.7% 365,043 373,964 384,956 391,681 400,515

Annual Depreciation

Ke

0 1.0% 1.5% 2.0% 2.5% 3.0%

12.7% 456,275 470,662 486,389 503,653 522,692
13.2% 430,608 443,399 457,329 472,557 489,273
13.7% 407,152 418,566 430,952 444,442 459,188
14.2% 385,650 395,868 406,923 418,919 431,984
14.7% 365,881 375,058 384,956 395,664 407,284

G

Ke



 

SAG GEST – Soluções Automóvel Globais, SGPS, S.A. – Sociedade Aberta 
C.R.C. Amadora n.º 503219886 – Capital Social: EUR 169.764.398 – Contribuinte N.º 503 219 886 

Sede: Estrada de Alfragide, n.º. 67 – 2614-519 Amadora 
73

17. INCOME TAX 
The Income Tax amount recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other 
Comprehensive Income for the twelve month periods ended on 31 December 2013 and 31 
December 2012, as well as the reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the 
effective income tax rate are as follows: 

 
Note 1: The Local Surtax of 1.5% applies to taxable income on an individual Entity basis, for 

each of the Entities included in the consolidation that do business in Portugal. In the 
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twelve months ended 31 December 2013, SAG Gest and the SIVA, Soauto, AA00, 
Rolporto, Globalrent, Rolvia, Siva Serviços and Imocar Subsidiaries recorded positive 
taxable income. 

Note 2: A 3% State Surtax applies to taxable income between Eur 1,500.0 thousand and Eur 
10,000.00 thousand and a 5% State Surtax applies to taxable income in excess of Eur 
10,000.0 thousand, on an individual basis, for each of the Entities included in the 
consolidation that do business in Portugal. In the twelve months ended 31 December 
2013, the SIVA Subsidiary recorded taxable income in excess of Eur 1,500.0 thousand, 
and SAG Gest recorded taxable income in excess of EUR 10,000.00 thousand.  

Income Tax has been calculated according to tax rates in force or substantially in force on 
reporting date in each country where taxable income is generated, in accordance with the 
relevant tax regulations. 

Deferred Tax balances are as shown in the table below, which include the differences between 
the tax and the reporting bases for the corresponding Assets and/or Liabilities: 

 
(1) Reclassifications between items in the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position 

represented a net reduction of Eur 2,728.1 thousand in the Deferred Taxes balances. 

(2) The amount of Deferred Taxes which affected the results for the period represented an 
expense of Eur 2,992.0 thousand, as detailed in the tables above.  

The amount of Deferred Tax Assets relating to Tax Losses Carried Forward, per year of origin 
and expiry date, is detailed in the table below. Management expects that positive taxable income 
will be generated in the future allowing the use of the accumulated tax losses. 

In accordance with current regulations, Tax Losses Carried Forward which can be used in the 
future, and the relevant maturity dates are as follows: 
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Changes in the Tangible Fixed Assets accounts during the twelve months ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 were as follows: 
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The Group considers that, as at 31 December 2013, no impairment signs exist in respect of its 
Tangible Fixed Assets. 

 

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – GOODWILL 
In December 2013, SAG Gest performed valuations using the Discounted Cash Flows (DCF) 
method, supporting the recoverability of the Goodwill amount recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of the Financial Position, as follows: 

1. The amount of Goodwill at 31 December 2013, determined in accordance with the disclosed 
procedure was as follows: 

 
 

2. As at 31 December 2012 the amount of Goodwill determined in accordance with the 
disclosed procedure, adjusted in accordance with the facts mentioned in Note 3.2., was as 
follows: 

 
 

3. For the purposes of determining the existence of impairment signs in respect of the above-
mentioned Goodwill amounts, these have been allocated to the relevant business segments. 

For each of the Entities being considered, the Discounted Cash Flows (DCF) method was 
used to establish the Entity’s Enterprise Value and Equity Value. 

Future Cash Flows were discounted using the WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital), 
calculated as follows: 
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Soauto Comércio de Automóveis 

 

 
Loures Automóveis 

   

   
Rolporto 

   

  
Globalrent 
Globalrent combines two of  the SAG Group activities: management of SAG Group’s internal 
service fleet and sale of VW Group Brands to non-traditional channels, including the sale of 
vehicles (usually semi-new cars) in foreign markets.  

The sale of vehicles of VW Group Brands to other European countries is a business which 
was started in 2012, and increased 11.1% in its first year. For the coming years, an annual 
growth of 10% until 2016 is expected, 5% in 2017 and stabilization from 2018 onwards. 

The following tables show the sensitivity analysis to the WACC and growth trend in the 
volume of exported vehicles. 

17,177 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
7.8% 21,080 21,799 22,968
8.3% 18,728 19,329 20,299

8.8% 16,672 17,177 17,990

9.3% 14,933 15,365 16,055
9.8% 13,383 13,753 14,343

G

WACC

17,177 160,000 165,000 170,000
7.8% 18,718 21,799 24,880
8.3% 16,541 19,329 22,117
8.8% 14,644 17,177 19,710
9.3% 13,046 15,365 17,684
9.8% 11,625 13,753 15,881

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

WACC

17.177 160.000 165.000 170.000
9,0% 12.814 15.276 17.737
9,3% 13.406 15.905 18.405
9,6% 14.644 17.177 19.710
10,0% 16.583 19.169 21.755
10,3% 17.944 20.568 23.191

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

VW VP 
Market 

Share (2016‐
2019)

17,177 160,000 165,000 170,000
4.7% 9,122 11,472 13,823
5.2% 12,280 14,721 17,163
5.7% 14,644 17,177 19,710
6.2% 17,779 20,403 23,028
6.7% 20,914 23,629 26,345

Audi 
Market 

Share (2016‐
2019)

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

8,029 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
7.8% 9,537 9,812 10,258
8.3% 8,630 8,860 9,230
8.8% 7,836 8,029 8,339
9.3% 7,164 7,329 7,592
9.8% 6,563 6,705 6,930

G

WACC

8,029 160,000 165,000 170,000
7.8% 9,012 9,812 10,611
8.3% 8,137 8,860 9,582
8.8% 7,373 8,029 8,685
9.3% 6,729 7,329 7,928
9.8% 6,155 6,705 7,254

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

WACC

8,029 160,000 165,000 170,000
9.0% 6,785 7,424 8,064
9.3% 7,093 7,741 8,389
9.6% 7,373 8,029 8,685
10.0% 7,812 8,480 9,148
10.3% 8,121 8,797 9,473

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

VW VP 
Market 

Share (2016‐
2019)

8,029 160,000 165,000 170,000
4.7% 5,777 6,386 6,995
5.2% 6,575 7,208 7,840
5.7% 7,373 8,029 8,685
6.2% 8,172 8,851 9,530
6.7% 8,970 9,672 10,374

Audi Market 
Share (2016‐

2019)

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

8,336 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
7.8% 9,320 9,498 9,789
8.3% 8,728 8,878 9,119
8.8% 8,211 8,336 8,538
9.3% 7,772 7,879 8,051
9.8% 7,380 7,472 7,619

G

WACC

8,336 160,000 165,000 170,000
7.8% 8,928 9,498 10,069
8.3% 8,358 8,878 9,397
8.8% 7,861 8,336 8,811
9.3% 7,442 7,879 8,317
9.8% 7,068 7,472 7,876

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

WACC

8,336 160,000 165,000 170,000
9.0% 6,830 7,277 7,724
9.3% 7,370 7,832 8,293
9.6% 7,861 8,336 8,811
10.0% 8,630 9,126 9,622
10.3% 9,170 9,681 10,192

MTM VP (2016‐2019)

VW VP 
Market 

Share (2016‐
2019)
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Considering the enterprise values resulting from the valuations, SAG Gest considers that, as at 
31 December 2013, there are no impairment signs affecting the Goodwill carrying amount. 

 

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
IAS 38 – Intangible Assets, defines an Intangible Asset as a non-currency, identifiable Asset 
without physical substance, for use in production or supply of goods or services, leasing to 
others, or for administrative purposes. An asset is a resource that is: 

• controlled by the Entity as a result of past events; 

• expected to produce future economic benefits for the Entity. 

6,405 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
7.8% 7,149 7,310 7,572
8.3% 6,691 6,828 7,048

8.8% 6,289 6,405 6,592

9.3% 5,946 6,047 6,208
9.8% 5,638 5,726 5,865

G

WACC

0 5.0% 10.0% 15.0%
7.8% 6,085 7,310 8,631
8.3% 5,667 6,828 8,081

8.8% 5,302 6,405 7,598

9.3% 4,992 6,047 7,188
9.8% 4,714 5,726 6,820

Export Growth Rate

WACC
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Changes in the Intangible Assets accounts during the twelve months ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 were as follows: 
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22. INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES 
The amount for Investments in Affiliates is as follows: 

 
Changes occurred during the twelve months ended 31 December 2013 are as follows: 

 
 

(1) On 31 December, this Financial Investment is recognized as Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 
as disclosed in Note 16 

In the changes detailed above, and in addition to the appropriation of the result during the six 
months ended 30 June 2013, the impacts resulting from the factors below are recognized: 

a) exchange rate variances resulting from changes in the exchange rate of the Brazilian Real 
in relation to the Euro. 

b) impact of the Employee Stock Option Plan in force at Unidas S/A, as disclosed in Note 34.  

(2)  In the case of Manheim, the loss resulting from the sale of 75% of the stake held by SAG 
(which was thus reduced from 40% to 10% of the Associate’s share capital) and an impairment 
loss corresponding to approximately 35% of the respective value were recognized. 

(3) Changes in investments relating to the Autolombos Associate represent the appropriation by 
SAG Gest of its share in the changes recorded in this Company’s Net Equity (Note 14). 

 

23. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
Investment Properties are as follows: 

 
The balance of Investment Properties relates to four buildings owned by the Imocar Real Estate 
Investment Fund that are not being used by the Group within the regular course of its operations. Those 
properties are recognized at their fair value, and were evaluated using the Discounted Cash Flows 
method, considering current rents for the rented properties (Edifício Porto, Edifício Pedro Álvares Cabral 
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e Edifício Amadora), and market rents for the currently vacant property (Edifício Conde Almoster), 
considering in this case, the assumption that it will be rented after a period of 6 months. In both cases, a 
5 year period was considered, after which the sale of the Properties was considered, bearing in mind 
their characteristics, the current market situation and their location. 

In 2013, the buildings which were mentioned above as Investment Properties were evaluated by 
independent experts and, following said evaluation, a reduction of its fair value of Eur 225.0 thousand 
was recognized. 

Income generated during the current period by rented buildings was Eur 56.2 thousand, and expenses 
incurred with the same were Eur 4.5 thousand. Expenses with the vacant Building were Eur 1.3 
thousand. 

The table below includes data on future income from rentals, based on the amounts agreed in the rental 
contracts that were in force on 31 December 2013. 

The term of the existing rental agreements is between 19 and 34 months. 

 
 

24. INVENTORIES 
Inventories are as follows: 

 
Vehicles under Buy-Back schemes will only become available for sale upon expiry of the holding period 
defined in each contract. 

Changes recorded during the twelve months ending 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 in 
Adjustments for Inventories were as follows: 
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25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – TRADE CUSTOMERS 
Trade Customers Accounts Receivable are as follows: 

 
Customers of the SIVA Subsidiary provided it, in accordance with the relevant Dealership or Authorized 
Repair Shop agreements, bank guarantees issued for the benefit of said Subsidiary for the total amount 
of Eur 41,001.0 thousand. Under the agreements established between the SIVA Subsidiary and 
Volkswagen Bank AG’s branch in Portugal, said bank guarantees are subrogated to this Financial 
Institution. 

The detailed ageing of Client Accounts Receivable by maturity as at 31 December 2013 and 31 
December 2012 is as follows:  

 
Adjustments for Trade Accounts Receivable had the following changes during the twelve months ended 
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012: 

 

(1) Transfers are performed between the various Adjustments accounts and therefore the amount 
reported shall be analyzed together with the details for Adjustments disclosed in Note 27. 
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26. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – RELATED ENTITIES 
The balance with Related Entities is as follows: 

 
The nature of the balances with other Group Companies (Shareholders, Related Companies, Affiliates 
and Associates) is disclosed in Note 41. 

 

27. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – OTHER DEBTORS 
The balance Other Debtors is as follows: 

 
Adjustments for Trade Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors had the following changes during the 
twelve months ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012: 

 
1) Transfers are performed between the various adjustment accounts and therefore the amount reported 

shall be analyzed together with the details for adjustments disclosed in Note 25. 
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28. DEFERRED COSTS 
Deferred Costs are as follows: 

 
 

29. ACCRUED INCOME 
Accrued Income is as follows: 

 
 
30. CURRENT INCOME TAX RECEIVABLE 
The balance receivable in respect of Current Income Taxes is as follows: 

 
The amount of Eur 4,241.2 thousand represents the payment of corporate tax related to several 
previous periods and resulting from additional tax assessments performed by the Portuguese Tax 
Authorities. Said additional assessments are under judicial review proceedings and are disclosed in 
Note 45 Contingencies. This payment was made in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth 
in Decree-Law 151-A/2013.  

This payment resulted in the canceling of compensatory interest charges of Eur 508.5 thousand, of  late 
payment interest of Eur 820.2 thousand, and charges of Eur 45.9 thousand (amounts which would 
represent an additional contingency had this payment not been made) and the corresponding 
cancellation of Bank Guarantees of Eur 6,327.2 thousands that had been provided under the relevant 
judicial review proceedings. 

The Income Tax rate in force until 31 December 2013 was 25%. The Portuguese local surtax is 1.5% 
and the Portuguese state surtax applied to each entity's taxable income, on an individual basis, is 3% 
between Eur 1,500.0 thousand and Eur 10,000.0 thousand and 5% on taxable income in excess of Eur 
10,000.0 thousand. 

Changes in Income Tax accounts are disclosed in Note 17. 
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31. OTHER TAXES RECEIVABLE 

The balance of Other Taxes Receivable is as follows: 

 
 
32. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
Cash and Cash Equivalents are as follows: 

 
The amounts reported under Cash and Cash Equivalents are determined in order to only include 
amounts that can be realized no later than three months from reporting date, and include creditor 
balances of bank accounts on the same date. 

 

33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

As at 31 December 2013, Registered Share Capital was represented by 169,764,398 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of Eur 1 each, and was fully paid up. 

SAG Gest’s controlling Shareholder is SGC - SGPS SA, a holding Company with headquarters in 
Estrada de Alfragide, 67 – Alfragide, Amadora. SGC – SGPS holds a stake in SAG Gest capital of 
69.13%, and an indirect stake of 10.24% which correspond, respectively, 76,71% and 11,37% of the 
voting rights. 

Treasury stock is owned by the Group’s Parent Company which, as at 31 December 2013, held 
16,760,815 shares, and by the Rolporto and Loures Automóveis Subsidiaries which, on the same date, 
held 5,100 shares of SAG Gest each. The Company meets the criteria for the purchase of treasury 
stock, as provided in Article 317 in the Company’s Act. 
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Cumulative Translation Adjustment is originated in the translation of the Financial Statements of 
Subsidiaries and Affiliates whose functional currency is not the Euro, as disclosed in Note 2.5. - Main 
Accounting Policies (Transactions in Foreign Currency). 

The amount of Eur 17,273.0 thousand recognized as Cumulative Translation Adjustments represents 
the negative impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2013 caused by 
devaluation of the Brazilian Real against the Euro in the value of the investment performed in Unidas 
S/A during the period between 31 December 2012 and 30 June 2013. This investment was recognized 
as a Non-Current Assets Held for Sale.  

On 12 August 2013, SAG Gest’s equity was increased in the amount of Eur 55,000 thousand by means 
of Supplementary Capital Payments performed in cash the Principal SA Shareholder, a company which 
is wholly owned by SAG Gest’s ultimate beneficial Shareholder.  
Funds for this operation were borrowed by the Principal SA Shareholder from major Portuguese 
Financial Institutions. SAG Gest guaranteed the amount of such loans by providing as collateral a 
second pledge on all shares it owns in Unidas S/A. 

Said amount was used by SAG Gest to partially reimburse loans granted by the same Financial 
Institutions, which had been renegotiated in December 2010 through a Framework Agreement. Under 
this agreement, as described in greater detail in Note 35, SAG Gest’s obligations are also guaranteed 
through the pledging as collateral of the entire Unidas S/A stock held by SAG Gest. 
 

34. SHARE OPTION PLAN – UNIDAS 

Unidas S/A Stock Option Plan 

The Unidas S/A Shareholders Meeting held on 15 June 2012 approved the implementation of a Stock 
Option Plan (the Plan) for Unidas S/A. 

The Plan establishes the general conditions and terms under which the Unidas S/A acquires and 
awards stock options in respect of shares issued by Unidas S/A to Employees, Professionals and 
Members of the Board of Unidas S/A and its Subsidiaries (the “Participants”) who meet the eligibility 
criteria as defined in the Plan, in accordance with the terms and conditions established in the Unidas 
S/A’s By-laws and by its Board of Directors. 

The main features of the Plan are as follows: 

Vesting: On each twelve months period starting 13 July 2011, or from the date they joined Unidas S/A 
as Employees (in the cases where they joined after 13 July 2011), Participants shall be entitled to 
exercise ¼ (one fourth) of the Options awarded to them as per the terms of the program or of the 
relevant employment contract. 
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Stock Option Valuation: The fair value of the Options is estimated on the date they are awarded, based 
on the Black & Scholes option valuation model. 

Stock Option Exercise: The exercise of vested Stock Options shall take place (i) within 2 (two) years of 
the date of a Liquidity Event, or (ii) within 2 (two) years from the vesting date of all Options assigned to 
each Participant (the “Option Term”). However, the Plan Management Committee may, in respect of 
each Stock awarding program or contract, establish different vesting conditions or Option Terms, and 
may even extend the term for Stock Option Exercise and/or its scheduling. 

On 29 June 2012, the Plan Management Committee approved in its meeting the 1st Program of the 
Plan, through which Unidas S/A awarded stock options to its beneficiaries. 

A maximum total of 2,163,049 of Options was established for this Program, which corresponds to a 
maximum stock dilution of 4% of the total of 54,076,223 shares issued by Unidas S/A. 

The amount of Eur 281.6 thousand recognized in the Consolidated Shareholders Equity under the Stock 
Option Plan – Unidas represents the share attributable to SAG Gest in said 1st Program of the Plan in 
the 6 months ended 30 June 2013, with the annual cost recognized in Current Result of Non-Current 
Assets Held for Sale. 

The options plan applies exclusively the Company described in the Consolidated Statement of the 
Financial Position as a Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 

 

35. BANK DEBT  
On 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, Bank Debt was as follows: 

 
Notes:   

(1) The balances relate to several short term credit facilities such as Bank Overdrafts, or creditor Bank 
Account balances, which are used as required and have short term maturities (revolving facilities on 
monthly, quarterly or semi-annual bases). 
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(2) A set of four Commercial Paper Programs negotiated with a syndicate of four Portuguese Financial 
Institutions in December 2010. The four operations are regulated by a Framework Agreement 
entered into between SAG Gest and those Financial Institutions, which was renegotiated on 9 
August 2013. 

Interest in respect of Bank Overdrafts accrues at standard market rates normally charged for this type of 
operations. 

The Commercial Paper Programs mentioned in Note 2 above have the following features: 

• Total Nominal Value: Eur 196,400.0 thousand 

• Term: 5 years, until 27 December 2015; 

• Guarantees: SAG Gest pledged all shares that it owns representing the registered share capital of 
Unidas S/A as first collateral for the benefit of the Financial Institutions to guarantee full 
reimbursement of all liabilities related to these credit facilities. 

The Bank Loan with a book value of Eur 35,833.9 thousand is guaranteed be the pledge over 
10,299,470 Participation Units of Closed Real Estate Investment Fund Imocar. 

The remaining funds borrowed by SAG Gest have no collateral attached. 

According to IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the amounts reported for 
Bank Debt are recognized at their Amortized Cost, with financial charges recognized in accordance with 
the effective interest rate method.  
Adoption of this method results in debt being recognized for amounts that may differ from its nominal 
value. 

The difference between the amounts for which current Bank Debt borrowed in Portugal is recognized in 
the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position and its nominal value on 31 December 2013 and 
31 December 2012 is as follows: 
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Balances with Shareholder SGC – SGPS are recognized as Non-Current Assets, since it is expected 
that they will be reimbursed after the conclusion of the sale of SAG Gest’s stake in Unidas S/A and after 
the Group’s return to positive results, by virtue of developments in the Automotive Market in Portugal. 
The balance with the Autolombos Affiliate relates to renewable short-term treasury operations (with less 
than one-year maturity) performed by Subsidiary Soauto Comércio de Automóveis S.A. 

The balance of treasury operations with Volpe Participações Ltda relates to short-term treasury 
operations performed by the SAG Overseas Subsidiary. 

No guarantees were provided in respect of the above balances. 

 
 

The transactions identified as Accrued Interest Income represent interest income accrued in respect of 
the financial operations indicated in the previous table. Accrued Interest Income is calculated using 
interest rates and other conditions that are in every way similar to prevailing market transactions 
between non-related bona fide third parties. 
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42. FINANCIAL RISKS  

A) Market risk 
In the course of their regular activities, the SAG Group Companies are exposed to interest and 
exchange rate fluctuations that are monitored dynamically in order to guarantee the fulfillment of policies 
defined to manage such financial risks.  
The ALCO (Assets and Liabilities Committee) has the responsibility for defining the SAG Group financial 
risk management policies, and is also responsible for monitoring and assessing the implementation of 
recommended hedging strategies. 

To implement the risk coverage strategies, Derivative Financial Instruments are negotiated from time to 
time, if so resolved by the ALCO, in order to freeze interest or exchange rates or, alternatively, to limit 
the fluctuation range of such variables.  
SAG Gest documents its exposure to exchange or interest rate fluctuation risks in accordance with IAS 
39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Valuation:  
• the relation between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. 

• the objectives to be achieved with the coverage; 

• the method used to assess the efficiency of the hedge; and 

• the accounting procedures adopted in the recognition of the transaction. 

SAG Gest currently has the following types of positions that generate exposure to interest and 
exchange rate fluctuations risks, for which policies have been defined. 

1. Investment in Foreign Currency 

Exposure of the SAG Group to exchange rate fluctuation risk originates in the financial investment made 
in Unidas, S/A, a Brazilian Affiliate whose functional currency is the Brazilian Real. 

Because there is no liquid market actively performing transactions between the Brazilian Real and the 
Euro, the exchange risk generated by this Investment is analyzed and managed in two different ways, 
considering that the total exchange rate exposure of investments denominated in foreign currency 
comprises two different, unrelated risks: 

• Risk of fluctuation of the Brazilian Real against the US Dollar; and 

• Risk of fluctuation of the US Dollar against the Euro.  
Therefore, decisions in respect of the coverage of both risks are independent and any risk coverages 
are implemented through the engagement of different Financial Instruments related to the risks inherent 
to each of these variables.  
Where applicable, results achieved with such coverages are recognized in Consolidated Equity.  
On the other hand, in accordance with the defined policies, the transaction costs and the potential 
effects on the Group’s liquidity position associated to the hiring of Financial Instruments used to cover 
such risks may imply that, at certain times, certain exposures may not be covered or are only partially 
covered. 

During 2013, no exchange risk coverage was engaged and SAG Gest did not have any active coverage 
operation on 31 December 2013. 

As reported in Note 16, until 30 June 2013, Unidas S/A’s Financial Statements were converted into 
Euros using the exchange rate as at reporting date, in accordance with Note 2.5 – Summary of Main 
Accounting Policies (Transactions in Foreign Currency). 

Exchange rate fluctuations and the consequent use of different exchange rates in each reporting period 
generated exchange differences that were recognized in the Consolidated Equity as Cumulative 
Translation Adjustments. 
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Exchange rate fluctuations that occurred generated, until 30 June 2013, a negative impact of Eur 
17,273.0 thousand in the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position, corresponding to differences 
between the amounts reported as Cumulative Translation Adjustments on 30 June 2013 and 31 
December 2012 related to said investment by SAG Gest, as disclosed on Note 33, which can be broken 
down as follows: 

Eur 18,618.3 thousand loss as a result of the devaluation of the BRL versus the USD; 

Eur 1,345.3 thousand gain as a result of the devaluation of the US Dollar versus the Euro   

From 1 July 2013 onwards, the investment in Unidas S/A. became recognized as Non-Current Assets 
Held for Sale and, consequently, Unidas' S/A's Financial Statements are no longer converted into Euros 
in each reporting period after that date. 

As disclosed in Note 16 and in accordance with IFRS 5, the amount of this Asset remains unchanged in 
the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position, except where signs of impairment exist which 
result in a devaluation of the Asset, including those resulting from a currency devaluation. 

Sensitivity Analysis: 

For the purpose of sensitivity analyses in respect of SAG Gest’s exposure to currency variations 
resulting from the investment in the Unidas Affiliate, two alternatives (valuation and devaluation) 
scenarios were considered for each of the risks involved: Therefore, four alternative scenarios were 
considered for changes in the Brazilian Real’s exchange rate against the Euro. 

 Variations vis-à-vis 31 
December 2013 

 Scenario 1 Scenario 2 
Change of the Brazilian Real against the US Dollar + 25% - 25% 
Change of the US Dollar against the Euro + 10% - 10% 
 

In conducting these sensitivity tests, the impact of potential currency changes in the Asset’s value, 
evaluated in Euros, was estimated, when compared with its value on 31 December 2013 (in Eur 
thousand). The results are summarized in the table below: 

 
 

2. Variable Interest Rate Liabilities – Portugal 

Although all interest derived from loans negotiated by SAG Gest in Portugal is indexed to the Euribor 
interest rate, with the addition of a risk spread, on 31 December 2013 there were no Financial 
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Instruments to cover the risk of interest rate changes. The decision to obtain this type of coverage is 
made on a case-by-case basis and depends on the expected market trends of interest rates and on the 
liquidity risk associated to the coverage instruments, which justifies the fact that no coverage existed on 
this date. 
B) Credit Risk 
SAG Gest’s policy in respect of the definition of Customer credit limits is prepared using Companies 
specializing in credit risk analysis. 

SAG Gest has access to major market databases which, together with its team of technical experts, 
enables it to assess and clearly minimize credit risk. 

Note 25 shows the ageing of Accounts Receivable. 

C) Liquidity Risk 
This risk may arise when financing sources (cash available, cash generated by operations, proceeds 
from divestments, credit lines, additional shareholder contributions) do not meet the cash requirements 
to fulfill obligations involving operational and financing activities, investments and debt repayment. 

On 31 December 2013, the amount of unused credit lines was Eur 32,950.0 thousand. 

The main contractual obligations of the Group involve bank loans (Note 35) and the related interest. 

Some of the loans disclosed in Note 35 are subject to the fulfillment of several covenants, which 
include: 

• Financial Covenants: 

1) As regards the Consolidated Financial Statements, adjusted in contractual terms, to eliminate 
the impact of the stake held in Unidas SA: 

Net Debt / EBITDA < 10.5 

Net Debt / Equity < 3.5 

On 31 December 2013, the Net Debt/EBITDA covenant was not fulfilled, and the Financial 
Institutions provided a waiver for this situation 

• Ownership: 

Ownership by SGC – SGPS of, at least, 50.1% of the Registered Share Capital and voting 
rights of SAG Gest. 

Maintenance, by Dr. João Manuel de Quevedo Pereira Coutinho, of the 99.8% stake in the 
Share Capital and voting rights of SGC – SGPS 

• Other 

Maintenance of the Distribution Agreements for the Volkswagen, Audi and Škoda Brands by the 
SIVA Subsidiary. 

Negative Pledge – inability to sell or encumber assets without prior consent from creditor 
Financial Institutions 

Cross Default – any default situation by SAG Gest in any of its financing agreements triggers a 
default situation in all its remaining financing agreements 

Inability to Merge or Divide SAG Gest without prior consent from creditor Financial Institutions. 

 

43. RENTALS AND OPERATING LEASES 

Rentals and Leases as a Lessee 
In conducting its business activities, SAG Gest took on certain responsibilities involving the rental of 
property and the operating leasing of vehicles. 
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The table below includes data on future commitments related to rentals, using the amounts defined in 
the agreements in force on 31 December 2013. 

Property rental agreements provide for terms between 1 and 60 months, while the terms of vehicle 
operating leases agreements vary between 1 and 32 months. 

 
 

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

On 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, as defined by IAS 39, the carrying amount of each of 
the following categories of financial assets and liabilities was as follows: 

 
 

45. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
Guarantees 

a. As at 31 December 2013, several bank guarantees had been issued by third parties for the 
benefit of Group Companies for approximately Eur 41,001.0 thousand, as described in Note 25. 
On 31 December 2012, this amount was Eur 43,915.0 thousand.  

b. Group Companies’ liability in respect of bank guarantees issued, at their request, for the benefit 
of third parties was, on 31 December 2013, Eur 134,098.6 thousand. (Eur 145,804.4 thousand 
on 31 December 2012). 

c. As disclosed in Note 35, to guarantee full payment of liabilities related to the Commercial Paper 
Programs negotiated on 28 December 2010 in the global nominal amount of Eur 196,400.0 
thousand, SAG Gest pledged on all the shares that it owns on the registered share capital of 
Unidas S/A as collateral for the benefit of the Financial Institutions.  

d. Subsequently, on 12 August 2013, in the context of the Supplementary Capital Contributions 
transaction performed by the Principal, S.A. Shareholder, a financing operation was entered into 
between Principal S.A. and the same Financial Institutions that are parties to the Framework 
Agreement. In this operation, SAG Gest intervened as guarantor, and made a second pledge on 
all the shares it owns that represent Unidas S/A's capital. 
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e. Also in accordance with what is disclosed in Note 35, the all Participation Units representing the 
Imocar Fund (closed real estate investment fund) were pledged as collateral for full payment of 
the responsibilities in respect of the Eur 35,700.0 thousand bank loan. 

 

Contingencies 
The Portuguese Tax Authorities issued additional Income Tax assessment notes to SAG Gest and other 
Companies within the consolidation perimeter, in  respect of Corporate Income Tax and Income Tax 
Surtax (“Derrama”) for the years 1999 to 2010, for a total of Eur 5,425.2 thousand, as follows: 

 
Said Companies disagree with the basis for the issuance of such additional assessments and taxable 
income amendment reports and have initiated, within the applicable legal deadlines, legal proceedings 
in respect of each of the said assessments and reports. Therefore these costs have not been reflected 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2013.  
As disclosed in Note 30, and under the special debt settlement regime approved on 31 October 2013, 
SAG Gest paid all amounts of tax due in respect of the ongoing legal proceedings, and released the 
Bank Guarantees of Eur 6.327.2 thousands provided in the relevant injunction procedures. However, 
and because there was no change in the Companies’ positions in respect of the additional tax 
assessments, the injunction proceedings are following their normal course. 

Since the reasoning used by the Portuguese Tax Administration in issuing said additional Income Tax 
assessment notes for the tax years 1999-2007 is considerably and materially similar to the one used in 
a previous assessment note in respect of tax years 1997 and 1998, the Board’s opinion was further 
supported by the un-appealed decision issued on 10 March 2009 by the Central Administrative Court 
which was favorable to SAG Gest, in respect of the cancellation of the addition tax assessed for the tax 
years 1997 and 1998. 

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, based on recommendations issued by its Legal Counsel, there 
is a good chance that such legal proceedings will be successful, and therefore no provision has been 
recognized in respect of this issue. 

 

46. ADDITIONAL LEGALLY REQUIRED INFORMATION   
In accordance with the terms of Article 66-A and 508-F of the Portuguese Commercial Companies 
Code: 
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• Other than the operations described in the above notes, as well as in the Management Report, 
there are no operations that are considered relevant that are not reflected in the Consolidated 
Statement of the Financial Position or described in these Notes; 

• The remunerations paid or to be paid to External Auditors, or to other individuals or companies 
belonging to the same network, by Companies with a dominant or group relationship with the 
Company in 2013 was as follows (amounts in Euros): 

 
 

47. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
Law no. 2/2014 of 16th January, amended, among others, article 69 of the Portuguese Corporate 
Income Tax Code (“CIRC”) establishing the scope and conditions of application of the Portuguese 
Special Regime of Taxation of Groups of Companies (“RETGS”). 

Paragraph 2 of said article establishes that to be considered a controlled company, the percentage held 
directly or indirectly in that company is 75% (previously 90%), on the condition that the holding provides 
50% of the voting rights. 

Following this amendment, and since the other requirements of article 69 of the CIRC were fulfilled, 
SAG Gest now has, as of 1 January 2014, a new controlling company, SGC – SGPS, its majority 
Shareholder, and is now part of this company’s RETGS perimeter. 

The other companies that were previously included in the SAG Group RETGS and that are directly or 
indirectly held by SGC – SGPS in excess of 75% are also part of this company’s RETGS perimeter as 
of 1 January 2014.  
The option of maintaining this tax regime was communicated to the Tax Authorities by the controlling 
company on 25 March 2014. 

On the same date, a request was made for the maintenance of both the SAG Group Tax Losses Carried 
Forward and the individual Tax Losses Carried Forward of the entities included in the SGC Group,. 

Other than the above, no events have taken place after the reporting date that could have a material 
impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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(Translation of a report originally issued in Portuguese)

Statutory and Auditor Report on the Consolidated Accounts

Introduction

1. In accordance with applicable legislation, we present the Statutory and Auditor’s Report on the

consolidated financial information contained in the Consolidated Directors’ Report and the

consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013 of SAG Gest – Soluções Automóvel

Globais, SGPS, S.A., comprising the Consolidated statement of financial position  (which shows a

total of 524.253 thousand Euros and shareholders’ equity of 27.884 thousand Euros, including a

net loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the parent of 15.578 thousand Euros),

the Consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income, the Consolidated

statement of changes in equity and the Consolidated statement of cash flows, for the year then

ended, and the related Notes to the financial statements.

Responsibilities

2. The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for:

a) the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present a true and fair view of

the financial position of the consolidated companies, the consolidated results and

comprehensive income of its operations, the consolidated changes in equity and consolidated

cash flows;

b) the historical financial information prepared in accordance with the International Financial

Reporting Standards, as endorsed by the European Union, that is complete, accurate,

current, transparent, objective and complies with regulations, as determined by the

Securities Exchange Code (“Código dos Valores Mobiliários”);

c) the adoption of appropriate accounting policies and accounting methods;

d) the maintenance of an adequate system of internal control; and

e) the disclosure of all significant facts which have had an impact on the activity of the

consolidated companies, their financial position, results and comprehensive income.
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3. Our responsibility is to audit the financial information contained in these documents, to ascertain

if it is complete, accurate, current, transparent, objective and compliant with applicable

regulations established by the Securities Exchange Code (“Código dos Valores Mobiliários”), with

the objective of expressing a professional and independent opinion, on such information, based

on our audit.

Scope

4. Our audit was conducted in accordance with the auditing and technical standards issued by the

Institute of Statutory Auditors (“Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas”), which require an

audit to be planned and performed with the objective of obtaining an acceptable level of

assurance as to whether the Consolidated Financial Statements are free of material

misstatement. As such, our audit included:

- the verification that the financial statements of the companies included in the Consolidated

Financial Statements were appropriately examined and the assessment of the significant

estimates and judgements made by the Board of Directors in the preparation of the financial

statements;

- the verification of the consolidation process;

- the assessment as to whether the accounting policies adopted, their uniform use and their

disclosure are appropriate under the circumstances;

- the verification of the appropriateness of the going concern principle;

- the assessment as to whether the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements is reasonable; and

- the assessment as to whether the consolidated financial information is complete, accurate,

current, transparent, objective and compliant.

5. Our examination also covered the verification of the consistency of the consolidated financial

information in the Consolidated Directors’ Report, with the other documents comprising the

financial statements, as well as the verifications set out in paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 451 of

the Companies Code (“Código das Sociedades Comerciais”).

6. We believe that this examination provides an acceptable basis for the expression of our opinion.
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Opinion

7. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present a true and fair

view, in all material respects, of the consolidated financial position of SAG Gest – Soluções

Automóvel Globais, SGPS, S.A. at 31 December 2013, the consolidated results and

comprehensive income of its operations, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash

flows for the year then ended in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as

endorsed by the European Union, and the information therein is complete, accurate, current,

transparent, objective and compliant .

Report on other legal requirements

8. It is also our opinion that the financial information presented in the Consolidated Directors’

Report is in agreement with the consolidated financial statements for the period and that the

Corporate Governance Report satisfies the requirements of the Article 245 – A of the Securities

Exchange Code.

Lisbon, 11 April 2014

Ernst & Young Audit & Associados – SROC, S.A.
Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas (nº 178)
Represented by:

(Signed)

Paulo Jorge Luís da Silva (ROC nº 1334)
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Report and Opinion of the Audit Committee 
on the documents for consolidated accounts reports 

 

 

In accordance with the  law, the memorandum of association and the mandate assigned to us, we present our 
report  on  the  Auditing  Activity  conducted,  as  well  as  our  opinion  about  the  Management  Report  and 
Consolidated  Financial  Statements  presented  by  the  Board  of  Directors  of  SAG  GEST  ‐  Soluções  Automóvel 
Globais, SGPS, SA, a listed company (the Company), concerning the financial year ended on 31 December 2013. 

 

1. Report 

1.1. We  regularly  monitored  the  Company’s  activity  throughout  the  year  to  the  extent  that  we  deemed 
adequate. We had contacts with the Board and other responsible staff of the Company, who were always 
available to provide all the required explanations about the Company and its Affiliates. 

1.2. All checks that were considered due and adequate were conducted, and no situation was brought to our 
knowledge that could be in breach of the applicable by‐laws and legal precepts. 

1.3. We reviewed the Statutory and Audit Report prepared by Ernst & Young Audit & Associados, SROC, SA, in 
respect of the Consolidated Management Report, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for SAG Gest and the year 2013, which have our approval, and we 
have taken note of the relevant Annual Audit Report  issued by that Auditing Company about the auditing 
that was conducted. 

1.4. The Consolidated Financial Statements which include the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position, 
the  Consolidated  Statement  of  Comprehensive  Income,  the  Consolidated  Statement  of  Cash  Flows,  the 
Consolidated  Statement  of  Changes  in  Equity,  and  the Notes  to  the  Consolidated  Financial  Statements 
provide a good understanding of the financial situation and results of the different Companies included in 
the consolidation. 

1.5. The  adopted  accounting policies  and  valuation  criteria  are  adequate  and  comply with  the  International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.  

1.6. The Management Report is sufficiently clear about the development of the businesses and situation of the 
Companies  included  in  the  consolidation,  in  each  of  the markets where  they  operate,  and  it  provides 
evidence about the most significant aspects of the relevant activity and prospects as regards the evolution 
in the present environment.  

 

2. Opinion 

In  view  of  the  above,  and  considering  the  information  received  from  the  Board  of  Directors  as well  as  the 
conclusions contained  in the Statutory and Audit Report prepared by Ernst & Young Audit & Associados, SROC, 
SA, in respect of the Consolidated Management Report, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to 
the Consolidated  Financial  Statements  for  SAG Gest  and  the  year 2013, our opinion  is  that  the Management 
Report and the Consolidated Financial Statements of SAG Gest – Soluções Automóvel Globais, SGPS, SA for the 
period that ended on 31 December 2013 be approved. 

 

3. Compliance Statement 

As  provided  for  by  law,  we  announce  that  we  agree  with  the  Consolidated Management  Report  and  the 
Consolidated Annual Accounts, and  to  the best of our knowledge,  the Consolidated Management Report,  the 
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Consolidated Annual Accounts and  relevant Legal Certification and other  reporting documents  that are  legally 
required  were  prepared  in  accordance  with  the  relevant  accounting  standards  and  give  an  accurate  and 
adequate  image  of  the  assets  and  liabilities,  financial  situation  and  earnings  of  the  Company  and  of  the 
Companies  included  in  the  consolidation  perimeter,  and  that  the  information  provided  on  the  relevant 
consolidated management report accurately describes the development of business operations, the performance 
and  position  of  the  Company  and  of  the  companies  included  in  the  consolidation  perimeter  and  contains  a 
description of the main risks and uncertainties facing them. 

 

Alfragide, 17th April 2014 

 

The Audit Committee 

 

João José Martins da Fonseca George  (Chairman) 

Duarte Manuel Palma Leal Garcia  (Voting Member) 

Martinho Lobo de Almeida Melo de Castro  (Voting Member) 

 


